A Pohožaev minimization for normalized solutions: fractional sublinear equations of logarithmic type

Marco Gallo (D)

Università Cattolica del Sacro Cuore Dipartimento di Matematica e Fisica Via della Garzetta 48, 25133 Brescia, Italy marco.gallo1@unicatt.it

Jacopo Schino (D) University of Warsaw Faculty of Mathematics, Informatics and Mechanics ul. Banacha 2, 02-097 Warsaw, Poland j.schino2@uw.edu.pl

Abstract

In this paper, we search for normalized solutions to a fractional, nonlinear, and possibly strongly sublinear Schrödinger equation

$$(-\Delta)^s u + \mu u = g(u)$$
 in \mathbb{R}^N ,

under the mass constraint $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 dx = m > 0$; here, $N \geq 2$, $s \in (0,1)$, and μ is a Lagrange multiplier. We study the case of L^2 -subcritical nonlinearities g of Berestycki–Lions type, without assuming that g is superlinear at the origin, which allows us to include examples like a logarithmic term $g(u) = u \log(u^2)$ or sublinear powers $g(u) = u^q - u^r$, 0 < r < 1 < q. Due to the generality of q and the fact that the energy functional might be not well-defined, we implement an approximation process in combination with a Lagrangian approach and a new Pohožaev minimization in the product space, finding a solution for large values of m. In the sublinear case, we are able to find a solution for each m. Several insights on the concepts of minimality are studied as well. We highlight that some of the results are new even in the local setting s = 1 or for q superlinear.

Keywords: NLS equations, Fractional Laplacian, Sublinear nonlinearity, Nonsmooth analysis, L^2 -norm constraint, Prescribed-mass solutions, Least-energy solutions, Ground states.

AMS Subject Classification: 35B06, 35B09, 35B38, 35D30, 35J20, 35Q40, 35Q55, 35R09, 35R11.

Contents

Introduction

1	Intr	roduction	2
	1.1	Some literature	3
	1.2	Existence results	5
	1.3	Qualitative results and examples	9
2	Pre	liminaries	13

3	The mass-free problem	15		
4	Some general properties 4.1 Connection among infima			
	4.2 L^2 -minima, Pohožaev identity, and critical points			
	4.3 Nehari identity			
5	The superlinear (perturbed) problem	23		
	5.1 ε fixed: some refinement for the superlinear problem	24		
	5.2 Symmetry results	30		
6	The sublinear problem	31		
	6.1 ε -independent estimates	31		
	6.2 Passage to the limit	32		
7	Further existence results			
	7.1 Existence for all masses	35		
	7.2 Existence under relaxed assumptions	37		
\mathbf{R}_{\cdot}	References			

1 Introduction

In this paper, we study the fractional L^2 -subcritical equation

$$(-\Delta)^s u + \mu u = g(u) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N$$
 (1.1)

under the mass constraint $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 dx = m > 0$; here, $s \in (0,1)$, N > 2s, $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ is a suitable Lagrange multiplier (part of the unknowns), and g is a generic Berestycki–Lions [8] nonlinearity which is allowed to be (negatively) *sublinear* at the origin (see (g0)–(g4) below). In particular, $G(t) := \int_0^t g(\tau) d\tau$ is allowed to have a growth of the type

$$-|t|^{1+\theta} - |t|^{2_s^*} \lesssim G(t) \lesssim |t|^2 + |t|^{\bar{p}+1}$$
 for $t \in \mathbb{R}$,

where $\theta \in [0,1), \, 2_s^* := \frac{2N}{N-2s}$ is the fractional Sobolev critical exponent, and

$$\bar{p} := 1 + \frac{4s}{N};$$
 (1.2)

the number $\bar{p}+1$ is often referred to as the L^2 -critical exponent. This case includes, for example, the well-known logarithmic nonlinearity $g(t)=t\log(t^2)$ (here $\theta\in[0,1)$ can be arbitrarily chosen), or sublinear-power-type nonlinearities $g(t)=|t|^{q-1}t-|t|^{r-1}t,\quad 0< r< q<\bar{p}$ (here $\theta=r$), but also strongly sublinear nonlinearities like $g(t)\sim\frac{1}{\log(|t|)}$ as $t\to 0$ (here $\theta=0$).

Exploiting variational methods, a key fact of these nonlinearities is that the related energy functional $K: H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$,

$$K(u) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|^2 dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) dx,$$
 (1.3)

is only lower semicontinuous, while it is well-posed in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$, which we highlight is not a reflexive space. Here $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ denotes the usual fractional Sobolev space.

1.1 Some literature

When s=1, the frequency $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ is fixed, and $g(t)=t\log(t^2)$, the logarithmic Schrödinger equation [9, 10]

$$-\Delta u + \mu u = u \log(u^2) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N$$
 (1.4)

has received much attention due to its great relevance in applied sciences, such as atomic physics, high-energy cosmic rays, Cherenkov-type shock waves, quantum hydrodynamical models, and many others; we refer to [15, 33] and the references therein. A key property of (1.4) is, indeed, the tensorization property (or separability of noninteracting subsystems): namely, if u_i are solutions of (1.4) in \mathbb{R}^{N_i} for i = 1, 2, then $(x_1, x_2) \mapsto u_1(x_1)u_2(x_2)$ is a solution of (1.4) in $\mathbb{R}^{N_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{N_2}$.

In order to handle the singularity at the origin, several techniques have been developed: a first approach, applied by [16], shows that the functional K in (1.3) is of class C^1 on the subspace

$$X := \left\{ u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N) \mid \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 \log(u^2) \, \mathrm{d}x < +\infty \right\};$$

see also [50, 56], and [12] for general doubling nonlinearities. We observe that $X \subsetneq H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$, as shown by $u(x) := (|x|^{N/2} \log(|x|))^{-1}$ for |x| large. Finally, in [41], a suitable norm is introduced in order to force the positive solutions far from the singularity.

A second approach has been developed in [24, 53]: here, the authors apply the *nonsmooth analysis* theory of [26, 54] and work with a suitable subdifferential of the action functional, possibly splitting it into a smooth part and a convex lower semicontinuous one.

Different approaches rely instead on some approximation schemes. The idea that $\frac{t^{2+\delta}-t^2}{\delta} \to t^2 \log(t)$ as $\delta \to 0^+$ was formalized in the framework of PDEs by [58] (see also [31], [15, Section 7]), and then this idea was applied in [59] to get existence of solutions. See also [33], where the regularization is of the form $\log(t+\delta)$, and [1], where the authors approximate the domain of the problem with expanding balls.

We mention that the problem of the singularity of the logarithm arises also in the study of planar Choquard equations [22, 39].

Let us move, now, to the case of sublinear powers. Although nonlinear (fractional) Schrödinger equations with combined powers have recently gained the mathematical community's attention [27, 42, 52, 55], such work usually concerns superlinear exponents. Instead, as regards sublinear-power nonlinearities (again, s=1 and μ fixed), most of the work focuses on problems of the type

$$-\Delta u + V(x)u = a(x)|u|^{q-1}u + h(x) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N,$$

 $q \in (0,1)$, where suitable assumptions on V, a, h are considered in order to ensure the existence of solutions (notice, in fact, that when $V \equiv a \equiv 1$ and $h \equiv 0$, no solution exists, see e.g. [6, Lemma 2.3]). When $a \notin L^{\frac{2}{q-2}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, the analysis of the problem is usually set in the Banach space $H^1(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$; see [5, 6, 57].

The only paper we know that deals with *general nonlinearities* in the spirit of [8] is [44]: here, the author studies

$$-\Delta u = f(u) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N,$$

where the assumptions about f include the case $\lim_{t\to 0} \frac{f(t)}{|t|^{2^*-2}t} = -\infty$. The author employs a perturbation argument at the origin and obtains a ground state for the equation.

When s=1 and μ is free, very few results appear in the literature about the existence of normalized solutions $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 dx = m > 0$. When $g(t) = t \log(t^2)$, we see that, considered a nontrivial solution u_1 of (1.4) for $\mu = 1$, then defining $u := \alpha_m u_1$ with $\alpha_m := m(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u_1^2 dx)^{-1}$, we have that u satisfies $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 dx = m$ and

$$-\Delta u + \left(1 + \log(\alpha_m^2)\right) u = u \log(u^2) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N, \tag{1.5}$$

thus the existence of a normalized solution is always ensured; this was already noticed in [10]. In particular, the frequency $1 + \log(\alpha_m)$ is negative when m is sufficiently small and positive when m is sufficiently large. Additionally, an explicit L^2 -minimum can be found. Indeed, by the logarithmic Sobolev-Gross-Nelson inequality [32] there exists $C(N) \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$K(u) \ge -\left(C(N) + \log(m)\right)m\tag{1.6}$$

for every $u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 dx = m$; moreover, we know that the equality is attained by (and only by, up to a translation) the Gausson $u(x) = \gamma_m e^{-\frac{1}{2}|x|^2}$ with $\gamma_m := m \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} e^{-|x|^2} dx \right)^{-1}$. This procedure can be found, for example, in [9, 16]. We see that the sign of the minimal energy over the L^2 -sphere depends on the size of m (and this is connected with the sign of the Lagrange multiplier, see Proposition 1.8).

When g does not enjoy scaling properties of this type, we mention the very recent papers [2, 45, 51, 60]. In [51] and [2], the authors study, respectively, logarithm-plus-power and nonautonomous problems by restricting to the subspace X. In [60], via a direct minimization, the authors study a similar equation, but with a more general g satisfying a monotonicity assumption: they find an L^2 -minimum for every mass m, which, in particular, has positive energy for m small and negative energy for m large. Finally, by exploiting the perturbation techniques developed in [44], the authors in [45] succeed in removing the monotonicity condition on g, and find an L^2 -minimum for m large, with a positive multiplier $\mu > 0$.

When $s \in (0,1)$, the fractional logarithmic equation

$$(-\Delta)^s u + \mu u = u \log(u^2) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N$$
 (1.7)

appears in the study of nonlinear quantized boson fields, [48]. Mathematically, several papers succeeded in generalizing the results found in the local case for sublinear nonlinearities, exploiting and adapting to the nonlocal case the aforementioned techniques, see e.g. [4, 25, 37] for the logarithmic equation, and [29] for logarithm-plus-power nonlinearities. In particular, we mention [35]: here, the author, with a perturbation argument similar to the one in [44], finds infinitely many solutions with a general nonlinear term.

Anyway, all the previous results deal with the unconstrained problem with fixed frequency. When $g(t) = t \log(t^2)$, the search for a normalized solution can be pursued as above by scaling (see (1.5)); on the other hand, the search for an L^2 -minimum through an optimal logarithmic inequality (1.6) has issues. Indeed, although such an inequality still holds in the fractional framework [17, 23], i.e., there exists $C(N, s) \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$K(u) \ge -\left(C(N,s) + \log(m)\right) m$$

for every $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 dx = m$, it is not known if the equality is attained or not. To the authors' knowledge, the only articles dealing with normalized solutions to logarithmic fractional equations are the recent works [38, 43], where semiclassical problems are studied.

The goal of this paper is to find normalized solutions with minimality properties to fractional sublinear equations under general assumptions about the nonlinear term. When treating such general terms g, as previously commented, the splitting of the functional does not seem an option, as well as the definition of a space similar to X. To obtain the existence of an L^2 -minimum we rely, thus, on the perturbation technique employed by [44, 45]: this perturbation takes the form $g_{\varepsilon}(t) := g_{+}(t) - \varphi_{\varepsilon}(t)g_{-}(t)$, where $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(t) = |t|/\varepsilon$ for $|t| \leq \varepsilon$ (see Section 5 for details). Additionally, we obtain several properties that are new even for s = 1 and g superlinear.

1.2 Existence results

In the present paper, we study the following problem

$$\begin{cases} (-\Delta)^s u + \mu u = g(u) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N, \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = m, \\ (\mu, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N), \end{cases}$$
(1.8)

with $s \in (0,1), N \ge 2, m > 0$, and $g \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying (set $G(t) := \int_0^t g(\tau) \, d\tau$)

(g0) g is continuous and g(0) = 0,

(g1)
$$\limsup_{t \to 0} \frac{g(t)}{t} \le 0,$$

$$(\mathrm{g2})\ \limsup_{|t|\to+\infty}\frac{|g(t)|}{|t|^{2^*_s-1}}<\infty,$$

$$(\mathrm{g3})\ \limsup_{|t|\to+\infty}\frac{g(t)}{|t|^{\bar{p}-1}t}\leq 0,$$

(g4) there exists $t_0 \neq 0$ such that $G(t_0) > 0$.

Here and in what follows, we denote $g^{\pm} := \max\{\pm g, 0\}$ the standard positive and negative parts of g, and

$$g_{+}(t)t := (g(t)t)^{+}, \quad G_{+}(t) := \int_{0}^{t} g_{+}(\tau) d\tau,$$
 (1.9)

$$g_{-}(t)t := (g(t)t)^{-}, \quad G_{-}(t) := \int_{0}^{t} g_{-}(\tau) d\tau;$$
 (1.10)

see Section 2. With these notations, we may rewrite (g1) and (g3) as

(g1)
$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{g_+(t)}{t} = 0$$
,

(g3)
$$\lim_{|t| \to +\infty} \frac{g_{+}(t)}{|t|^{\bar{p}-1}t} = 0.$$

We further notice that, when (g3) holds, then (g2) actually means $\limsup_{|t|\to+\infty} \frac{g_-(t)}{|t|^{2_s^*-2}t} < \infty$.

Before presenting our results, let us recall that in [18, Proposition 4.1] and [14, Proposition 1.1] (see also [21, Corollary 6.4]), when g satisfies Berestycki–Lions assumptions, the following $Poho\check{z}aev\ identity$ holds

$$\frac{1}{2_s^*} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{\mu}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0 \tag{1.11}$$

whenever u is a solution of (1.8) and either $s \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1)$ or $g \in \mathcal{C}^{0,\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with $\alpha \in (1 - 2s, 1)$: this result can be generalized to our assumptions whenever $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) dx$ is assumed a priori finite; however, we see that the condition on the Hölder regularity of g forces a restriction on the singularity of g_- at the origin. It is not known if this identity holds for general continuous nonlinearities g and general values of $s \in (0,1)$. Additionally, we observe that, due to the possible

sublinearity of g, for a general solution u of equation (1.8) we cannot state a priori that it satisfies the *Nehari identity*

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|^2 dx + \mu \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u) u dx = 0.$$
 (1.12)

To state the main theorem, we make use of a Lagrangian formulation of the problem (in the spirit of [20, 34]) and introduce, in addition to (1.3), a Lagrangian functional over the product space: $I^m : \mathbb{R} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \to \mathbb{R}$,

$$I^{m}(\mu, u) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|^{2} dx + \frac{\mu}{2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} u^{2} dx - m \right) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G(u) dx.$$
 (1.13)

Notice that critical points of I^m are (formally) solutions to (1.8) and $I^m(\mu, u) = K(u)$ if $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 dx = m$.

From now on, to state our results we will use the following convention.

Convention: whenever we deal with a pair (μ, u) (or (λ, u) with $e^{\lambda} = \mu$, see (5.5)) and we say that such a pair is radially symmetric, nonnegative, does not change sign, etc., we are referring to u.

We introduce the following notations, standing for the L^2 -sphere in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and the Pohožaev set in the product space $\mathbb{R} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$:

$$S_m := \{ u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \mid |u|_2^2 = m \}, \tag{1.14}$$

where $|\cdot|_q$ is the usual Lebesgue norm, $1 \leq q \leq \infty$, and

$$\mathcal{P} := \left\{ (\mu, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \mid u \neq 0 \text{ and } P(\mu, u) = 0 \right\}, \tag{1.15}$$

where $P: \mathbb{R} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \to \mathbb{R}$ is the Pohožaev functional¹

$$P(\mu, u) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|^2 dx + 2_s^* \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\mu}{2} u^2 - G(u) dx.$$
 (1.16)

It is clear that $(\mu, u) \in \mathcal{P}$ if and only if it satisfies the Pohožaev identity (1.11). Moreover, $\mathcal{P} \neq \emptyset$ because, fixed $u \in H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N) \setminus \{0\}$, $P(\cdot, u)$ is a continuous function such that $\lim_{\mu \to \pm \infty} P(\mu, u) = \pm \infty$. Next, we set

$$\mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{rad}} := \mathcal{S}_m \cap H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N), \quad \mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}} := \mathcal{P} \cap (\mathbb{R} \times H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)),$$

where $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is the classical fractional Sobolev space, cf. (2.1), and $H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is its subspace of radially symmetric functions, and

$$\kappa^m := \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m^{\text{rad}}} K, \qquad d^m := \inf_{\mathcal{P}^{\text{rad}}} I^m; \tag{1.17}$$

here K and I^m are defined in (1.3) and (1.13). We further define

$$\overline{\mu}_0 := \sup_{t \neq 0} \frac{G(t)}{t^2/2};$$
(1.18)

¹ We highlight that the terminology "Pohožaev functional", in the framework of normalized solutions, is often referred to a suitable combination of the Pohožaev and Nehari functionals, which allows getting rid of the Lagrange multiplier μ ; such a functional appears, in particular, in the framework of L^2 -supercritical problems. Here, instead, we focus on the proper Pohožaev identity, considering a two-variable functional.

notice that if (g4) holds, then $\overline{\mu}_0 \in (0, +\infty]$. Moreover, we introduce the L^2 -ball and the corresponding infimum:

$$\mathcal{D}_m := \left\{ u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \mid |u|_2^2 \le m \right\}, \quad \mathcal{D}_m^{\text{rad}} := \mathcal{D}_m \cap H^s_{\text{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N), \quad \ell^m := \inf_{\mathcal{D}_m^{\text{rad}}} K;$$
 (1.19)

we mention that the use of the L^2 -ball in normalized problems goes back to [11], while it was utilized for the first time in the L^2 -subcritical regime in [49]. We can thus state our first theorem, see Definition 2.4 for the notion of solution.

Theorem 1.1 (Existence for large masses) If (g0)–(g4) hold, then there exists $m_0 \ge 0$ such that for every $m > m_0$ there exists $(\mu_0, u_0) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathcal{S}_m^{\text{rad}}$ with the following properties:

- (i) (μ_0, u_0) is a solution to (1.8), and it satisfies the Nehari identity (1.12);
- (ii) u_0 is a minimum (with Lagrange multiplier μ_0) on the L^2 -sphere and the L^2 -ball, i.e., $K(u_0) = \kappa^m = \ell^m < 0$; moreover, we have the formula

$$\kappa^{m} = \inf_{-\infty < \mu < \overline{\mu}_{0}} \left(a(\mu) - \mu \frac{m}{2} \right) = a(\mu_{0}) - \mu_{0} \frac{m}{2}, \tag{1.20}$$

where $a(\mu)$ is the least action related to the problem with fixed frequency μ , see (3.3).

(iii) (μ_0, u_0) is a Pohožaev minimum on the product space, i.e., $(\mu_0, u_0) \in \mathcal{P}^{rad}$ and $I^m(\mu_0, u_0) = d^m$; in particular, (μ_0, u_0) satisfies the Pohožaev identity (1.11).

As a consequence of the above relations, we have $\kappa^m = d^m$.

Under suitable additional assumptions about g, we highlight that the found solution can be chosen nonnegative and radially nonincreasing, see Proposition 1.12.

Remark 1.2 We observe the following facts.

- The mass threshold m_0 is given by formula (5.12).
- Notice that, thanks to our method, we are able to state that the found Lagrange multiplier μ_0 is positive and the energy κ^m is negative. At the same time, the found solution (μ_0, u_0) minimizes I^m in the whole Pohožaev space over $\mathbb{R} \times H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, not only over $(0, +\infty) \times H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$.
- In Theorem 1.1, the solution is found for m sufficiently large. In Theorem 1.3 below, we find a solution for each m > 0; on the other hand, in that case, we have no information on the sign of the Lagrange multiplier or that of the energy, nor do we know whether the solution minimizes the energy over $\mathcal{D}_m^{\mathrm{rad}}$ (which is coherent with Proposition 1.5 below).
- We highlight that we cannot state that u_0 is a critical point of $I^m(\mu_0, \cdot)$ due to the lack of regularity of the functional, but only that $I^m(\mu_0, \cdot)$ is differentiable at u_0 along test functions in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$, cf. Lemma 2.3. In particular, the validity of the Nehari identity in Theorem 1.1 is not straightforward; in this case, thanks to our method, we are able to obtain such an identity.
- We observe that (1.20) is a "Legendre transform"-type formula which relates the L²-minimum value to the Pohožaev minimum value (with fixed frequency); similar formulas were already obtained in [28, 30, 34].

• We notice that, fixed $\rho > 0$, we can find a threshold $m_{\rho} \geq m_0$ such that, for each $m > m_{\rho}$ there exists $(\mu_{\rho}, u_{\rho}) \in (\rho, +\infty) \times \mathcal{S}_m^{\text{rad}}$ solution of (1.8). Indeed, it is sufficient to apply Theorem 1.1 to the nonlinearity $g_{\rho}(t) := g(t) - \rho t$, which satisfies (g0) - (g4).

Unlike [45], in our fractional setting, two main difficulties come into play. The first is due to the nonlocality of the problem: the fact that the operator $(-\Delta)^s$ does not preserve the supports of functions creates indeed problems in a direct minimization as in [45]. To deal with this issue, we handle the perturbed problem through a Lagrangian formulation (1.13) as done in [20, 34]: this approach has additional advantages, like showing some geometrical properties of the solutions, such as the minimality of \mathcal{P}^{rad} , formula (1.20), and the form of the threshold m_0 ; this last, in turn, allows us to show the existence of a solution for every mass m (see Theorem 1.3 below).

The second difficulty is due to the absence of a Pohožaev identity: as we already pointed out, it is an open problem to determine if the Pohožaev identity holds for general continuous nonlinearities g and general values of $s \in (0,1)$. Under our assumptions (g0)-(g4), thus, we are not able to use this identity. As already mentioned, we first study the superlinear problem (with an ε -perturbation) and pass to the limit: by construction, the solutions u_{ε} that we build satisfy the Pohožaev identity, which gives some information to start with. On the other hand, in the limiting process, we get $u_{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup u_0$, where u_0 can be proved to be a solution, but with no a priori minimality properties: in [45], it is thus crucially used, in order to pass to the strong limit and get the existence of an L^2 -minimum, that the Pohožaev identity holds for arbitrary solutions. This obstruction is here overcome by a finer analysis on the information of u_{ε} , in particular, regarding the interplay between the minimization over the L^2 -sphere and the L^2 -ball.

To deal with the superlinear perturbed prescribed-mass problem, in the spirit of [20, 34], we first study the free problem (i.e., when μ is fixed), following essentially [14, 18]: here we revise and refine both the existence results contained in [14, 20]. Additionally, since we are interested in the existence of a single solution, we simplify the argument of [20] by finding the solution through a direct minimization on the Pohožaev set (1.15): as a matter of fact, the minimality of the solution in [20] was obtained as a by-product of a minimax approach (see Remark 5.4), which requires a nontrivial deformation theory. Here we directly study the convergence of a (precisely chosen) minimizing sequence on \mathcal{P}^{rad} : this procedure is totally unrelated with the perturbation framework (see Remark 5.3), and it seems a new approach in literature in regards of product spaces, thus it has an interest of its own.

In Theorem 1.1, we show the existence of a minimizer for m > 0 sufficiently large; when the mass is small, by looking at the pure logarithmic case we expect an L^2 -minimum, possibly with a Lagrange multiplier and an energy with signs different from the ones in Theorem 1.1. This is the content of the next theorem (see also the more general Theorem 7.2). This result gives a fractional counterpart of [60], as well as a generalization for s = 1 by dropping the monotonicity therein.

Theorem 1.3 (Existence for all masses) If (g0)-(g4) hold and, moreover,

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{g(t)}{t} = -\infty,\tag{1.21}$$

then for every m > 0 there exists a solution $(\mu_0, u_0) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{rad}}$ of (1.8) satisfying the Nehari and Pohožaev identities and such that

$$I^{m}(\mu_{0}, u_{0}) = K(u_{0}) = a(\mu_{0}) - \frac{\mu_{0}}{2}m = \kappa^{m} = d^{m} = \inf_{-\infty < \mu < \overline{\mu}_{0}} \left(a(\mu) - \frac{\mu}{2}m \right).$$

Finally, if $\kappa^m \leq 0$, then $\mu_0 > 0$.

We remark that in Theorem 1.3, we are not able to determine the sign of the Lagrange multiplier μ_0 and of the energy κ^m . To obtain Theorem 1.3 we make use of a shifted problem, which still falls into the assumptions of Theorem 1.1 (here the generality of (g1) is essential), and rely on the representation formula (5.12) for the mass threshold m_0 .

Remark 1.4 (On the multiplicity) We highlight that the present approach seems suitable for generalizations in the L^2 -critical (see [19]) and supercritical cases. Moreover, by following the minimax ideas in [20], one may have the additional advantage to possibly obtain a multiplicity result: indeed, for each $\varepsilon > 0$, with the same techniques (and genus arguments, see Remark 5.4) we can get the existence of multiple solutions $(u_{\epsilon}^{\varepsilon})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$; on the other hand, at the moment, we are not able to exclude the possibility that these solutions collapse to the same solution of the original problem when $\varepsilon \to 0^+$; we expect that some finer topological information on the genus of these solutions is needed.

1.3Qualitative results and examples

We present now some outcomes about the interplay among the various concepts of minimality we introduced, as well as some symmetry results. Most of them will not require (g3).

As highlighted in Subsection 1.1, we recall that, in some cases, the Lagrange multiplier of the equation might be negative. In the following, thus, for $\rho \in [-\infty, +\infty)$ we define

$$\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)} := \{ (\mu, u) \in (\rho, +\infty) \times H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \mid u \neq 0 \text{ and } P(\mu, u) = 0 \}$$
 (1.22)

and $\mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}}_{(\rho)} := \mathcal{P}_{(\rho)} \cap H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Observe that $\mathcal{P}_{(-\infty)} = \mathcal{P}$. In the following propositions, we are not claiming that the mentioned infima are attained or finite merely under (g0)-(g2). On the other hand, minimizers can exist under different assumptions than those in Theorems 1.1 or 1.3: for instance, with proper hypotheses on m and g, they exist when $\limsup_{|t|\to+\infty} g(t)/(|t|^{\bar{p}-1}t) < +\infty$ (which is weaker than (g3)); see, e.g., [42].

Under suitable assumptions, the several notions of minimality we introduced coincide; notice that when $m > m_0$, we have $\kappa^m < 0$, which is a particular case of such assumptions.

Proposition 1.5 (Connections among infima) Assume (g0)-(g2). We have

$$\inf_{S_m} K = \inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^m. \tag{1.23}$$

If $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K < -\frac{\rho}{2}m$, then

$$\inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K = \inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^m = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m.$$

If $\rho \geq 0$ and $\inf_{\mathcal{D}_m} K < -\frac{\rho}{2}m$, then

$$\inf_{\mathcal{D}_m} K = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K = \inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^m = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m.$$

In particular, if $\inf_{\mathcal{D}_m} K < 0$ we have $\inf_{\mathcal{D}_m} K = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K$. Finally, for every $\rho \in [-\infty, +\infty)$, we have

$$\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m = \inf \big\{ I^m(\mu, u) \mid (\mu, u) \in (\rho, +\infty) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N), \ u \neq 0, \ P(\mu, u) \leq 0 \big\}.$$

We show now a generalization of (1.20).

Proposition 1.6 (Legendre transform formula) Assume (g0)-(g2) and let $\rho \in [-\infty, \overline{\mu}_0)$. Then,

$$\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m = \inf_{\rho < \mu < \overline{\mu}_0} \left(\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} - \frac{\mu}{2} m \right).$$

We move on to show that Pohožaev minima are indeed always weak solutions.

Proposition 1.7 (Pohožaev minima are solutions) Assume (g0)-(g2) and let $\rho \in [-\infty, +\infty)$. If $(\mu, u) \in \mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}$ satisfies $I^m(\mu, u) = \min_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m$, then it is a solution to (1.8). Moreover, if $\min_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m < -\frac{\rho}{2}m$, then $I^m(\mu, u) = K(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K$.

We show now that if u is an L^2 -minimum, then u satisfies the Pohožaev identity; this is obtained without assuming extra regularity. See also Proposition 4.3 for some results on the Nehari identity.

Proposition 1.8 (Pohožaev identity for L^2 -minima) Assume (g0)-(g2). Let $u \in \mathcal{S}_m$ be such that $K(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K$. Then, u is a solution of (1.1) for some Lagrange multiplier $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$, and (μ, u) satisfies the Pohožaev identity. Moreover, for every $\rho \in [-\infty, -\frac{2}{m}\inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K)$, we have $K(u) = I^m(\mu, u) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}(\rho)} I^m$.

As a consequence of Propositions 1.7 and 1.8 we have the following statement.

Corollary 1.9 Under (g0)-(g2), a function $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is an L^2 -minimum with Lagrange multiplier $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ if and only if (μ, u) is a Pohožaev minimum over \mathcal{P} .

Finally, we present a fractional and possibly strongly sublinear counterpart of [36]: notice that here we deal with Pohožaev minima instead of classical ground state solutions, which are indeed equivalent notions in the case treated in [36].

Proposition 1.10 (Least energy versus least action) Assume (g0)-(g2).

(i) Let $u \in \mathcal{S}_m$ be such that $K(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K$ with Lagrange multiplier $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$. Then $u \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}$ is such that $J_{\mu}(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu}$ and

$$\inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_\mu} J_\mu - \frac{\mu}{2} m. \tag{1.24}$$

(ii) Let $\mu \in \Big\{ \nu \in \mathbb{R} \ \Big| \ \exists \ v \in \mathcal{S}_m \ s.t. \ K(v) = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K \ with \ Lagrange \ multiplier \ \nu \Big\}.$

Let now $u \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}$ be such that $J_{\mu}(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu}$. Then $u \in \mathcal{S}_m$ and $K(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K$.

Remark 1.11 We highlight that with similar proofs we may show the same results of Propositions 1.5–1.8, 1.10, and Corollary 1.9 in the radial setting, extending what we found in Theorem 1.1 for $m > m_0$.

We move now to some qualitative properties of the solutions. We highlight that, dealing with general solutions of a nonregular problem, their proofs are not standard and will require some additional arguments. Since, in Theorem 1.1, we restricted to the radial framework, we investigate when this property is naturally achieved, together with positivity.

Proposition 1.12 (Symmetry and sign) Assume (g0)-(g2) and let $\rho \in [-\infty, +\infty)$.

- (i) All minimizers of I^m over $\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}$ and all minimizers of K over \mathcal{S}_m are radial about a point.
- (ii) All nonnegative minimizers of I^m over $\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}$ or $\mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}}_{(\rho)}$ and all nonnegative minimizers of K over \mathcal{S}_m or $\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{rad}}_m$ are Schwarz-symmetric up to a translation (see Definition 2.5).
- (iii) Let (μ, u) be a solution to (1.8) such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_-(u)u \, dx < +\infty$, and assume² $g(t) \mu t \ge 0$ for each $t \le 0$. Then $u \ge 0$.
- (iv) Assume, in addition, (g3) and (g4). If $g|_{(-\infty,0)} = 0$ or g is odd, then for any $m > m_0$ there exists a Schwarz-symmetric minimizer (μ_0, u_0) of I^m over \mathcal{P} , where $\mu_0 > 0$ is also a minimizer of $\mu \in (-\infty, \overline{\mu}_0) \mapsto \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} \frac{\mu}{2} m \in \mathbb{R}$ and u_0 is also a minimizer of K over \mathcal{S}_m and \mathcal{D}_m with Lagrange multiplier μ_0 . In particular,

$$\begin{split} \inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^m &= d^m, \quad \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K = \kappa^m, \quad \inf_{\mathcal{D}_m} K = \ell^m, \\ \inf_{-\infty < \mu < \overline{\mu}_0} \left(\inf_{\mathcal{P}_\mu} J_\mu - \mu \frac{m}{2} \right) &= \inf_{-\infty < \mu < \overline{\mu}_0} \left(a(\mu) - \mu \frac{m}{2} \right), \end{split}$$

and all the above quantities are indeed equal and negative. This minimizer is a solution to (1.8) and satisfies the Nehari identity.

Remark 1.13 In a way analogous to the relation between Theorems 1.1 and 1.3, if (g0)-(g4) and (1.21) hold, then the outcome of Proposition 1.12 (iv), except for the signs of μ_0 and $K(u_0)$ and the statement on ℓ_m , holds for every m > 0.

When searching for a normalized solution without necessarily minimality properties, we can drop (g2); moreover, we can require the solution to be Schwarz symmetric (up to the sign).

Proposition 1.14 (Existence and symmetry under relaxed assumptions) Assume (g0), (g1), (g3), and (g4). Then, for every m sufficiently large, there exists a solution $(\mu_0, u_0) \in (0, +\infty) \times \mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{rad}}$ of (1.8) such that u_0 or $-u_0$ is Schwarz symmetric³. This solution satisfies the Nehari identity (1.12) and the Pohožaev identity (1.11). Finally, if (1.21) holds as well, then such a solution exists with no restriction on m.

We end this section by giving some examples of nonlinearities to which the previous results apply. In these cases, we also show nonexistence of solutions.

Corollary 1.15 (Logarithmic case) Let m > 0 and

$$g(t) = \alpha t \log(t^2) + \beta |t|^{q-1} t$$

with $\alpha > 0$, $\beta \in \mathbb{R}$, and $0 < q \le 2^*_s - 1$. Then the following facts hold.

- (i) If q > 1 and $\beta \leq -\frac{\alpha(q+1)}{q-1}e^{-(q+1)/2}$, then there exist no solutions $(\mu, u) \in [0, +\infty) \times \mathcal{S}_m$ to (1.8) that satisfy the Pohožaev identity; in particular, no L^2 -minima with nonnegative Lagrange multipliers μ exist.
- (ii) If

$$q \in (1, \bar{p})$$
 and $\beta > 0$

Notice that if $\mu \geq 0$, this is implied by $g|_{(-\infty,0)} \geq 0$.

 u_0 if $t_0 > 0$, $-u_0$ if $t_0 < 0$, where t_0 is introduced in (g4).

or

$$q \in (1, 2_s^* - 1]$$
 and $-\frac{\alpha(q+1)}{q-1}e^{-(q+1)/2} < \beta \le 0$

or

$$q \in (0,1]$$
 and $\beta \leq 0$,

then there exists $(\mu_0, u_0) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{rad}}$, a Schwarz-symmetric minimizer of K over \mathcal{S}_m , which is a solution of (1.8), a Pohožaev minimum, and it satisfies the Nehari identity. Moreover, the following Legendre-transform formula holds:

$$\kappa^m = \inf_{\mu \in \mathbb{R}} \left(a(\mu) - \mu \frac{m}{2} \right) = a(\mu_0) - \mu_0 \frac{m}{2}.$$

Finally, if m_0 is as in Theorem 1.1 and $m > m_0$, then $\mu_0 > 0$ and $\ell^m = \kappa^m < 0$.

As already mentioned in Subsection 1.1, we highlight that also the pure logarithmic case $\alpha = 1$ and $\beta = 0$, that is, (1.7), has an interest of its own: indeed, even if the existence of a normalized solution can be achieved by scaling arguments, in the fractional setting the existence of an L^2 -minimum is not straightforward as in the local case, due to the lack of extremals for the fractional logarithmic Sobolev inequality.

Corollary 1.16 (Low-power case) Let

$$g(t) = -\gamma |t|^{r-1}t + \beta |t|^{q-1}t$$

with $\gamma, \beta > 0$, $0 < r < 1 < q < \bar{p}$. Then, Corollary 1.15 (ii) holds⁴.

The results apply also to nonlinearities of the type $\alpha t \log(t^2) - \gamma |t|^{r-1} t + \beta |t|^{q-1} t$, but in this case the exact range of coefficients for existence is not explicitly available.

Remark 1.17 We notice that all the results we obtain are valid in the local case $s=1,\ N\geq 3$, and this leads to some improvements of [45]: in particular, in Theorem 1.1, the minimality on $\mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}}$ of the solution, the Nehari identity, and formula (1.20) are new; moreover, Theorem 1.3 and all the results of Subsection 1.3 are new as well. With some slight adaptations, Theorems 1.1 and 1.3 and most of the results of Subsection 1.3 can be generalized also to s=1 and N=2 (notice that the existence of an L^2 -minimum follows from [45, Theorem 1.1]). The only result that cannot be proved via a mere adaptation of the arguments herein is Proposition 1.12 (i) because Lemma 3.3 is false, being $\int G(u) - \frac{\mu}{2}u^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = 0$ from the Pohožaev identity, cf. [8, Remark 3.1] and [7]. We leave the details to the interested reader.

Remark 1.18 Some of the results contained in this paper are new even in the superlinear setting, extending or further developing [20]. First, the growth of g at infinity is slightly generalized (see (g2)-(g3)). Then, the techniques involved for the existence – that is, the direct minimization over the Pohožaev set – are new as well. Furthermore, new results appear, such as the fact that every Pohožaev minimum is a critical point (see Proposition 1.7), or the precise relation between L^2 -minima and unconstrained ground states (see Proposition 1.10), together with other results in Subsection 1.3.

The results in Corollary 1.16 hold also for $0 < r < q \le 1$. In this case, in the Legendre transform, we have $0 < \mu < \overline{\mu}_0$, with $\overline{\mu}_0 = 2(q-r) \left(\frac{(1+r)(1-q)}{\gamma}\right)^{\frac{1-q}{q-r}} \left(\frac{\beta}{(1-r)(1+q)}\right)^{\frac{1-r}{q-r}}$ if q < 1 and $\overline{\mu}_0 = \beta$ if q = 1.

Outline of the paper. In Section 2, we prove some preliminary properties that will be used throughout the paper. In Section 3, we recall and refine some results about the free-mass problem (that is, with fixed μ). In Section 4, together with Subsection 5.2, we prove most of the results from Subsection 1.3. In Section 5, we find a solution to the perturbed problem; then, in Section 6, passing to the limit, we obtain a solution to (1.8) and prove Theorem 1.1. Finally, in Section 7, we prove Theorem 1.3, Proposition 1.14, and Corollaries 1.15 and 1.16.

Notations. The definition of (weak) solution is given in Definition 2.4, while the definition of Schwarz-symmetric function is given in Definition 2.5. The fractional Sobolev space $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is defined in (2.1), while the restrictions over the radial subspace will be denoted with "rad". The L^2 -sphere \mathcal{S}_m and the L^2 -ball \mathcal{D}_m are given in (1.14) and (1.19), while the L^2 -critical exponent $\bar{p}+1$ is defined in (1.2). The perturbed functions g_{ε} (and φ_{ε} , G_{-}^{ε} , g_{-}^{ε} , G_{ε}) are given in (5.2)–(5.3); the quantities related to the perturbed problem will appear with an " ε ". The energy functional K(u) and the L^2 -minimal value (over the sphere or the ball) κ^m , ℓ^m are given in (1.3), (1.17), (1.19). The (action, Pohožaev) functionals $J_{\mu}(u)$, $P_{\mu}(u)$ over $H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ are defined in (2.3), (3.2), while the (Lagrangian, Pohožaev) functionals $I^m(\mu, u)$, $P(\mu, u)$ over $\mathbb{R} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ are given in (1.13), (1.16). For technical reasons, the change of variable $\mu = e^{\lambda}$ in the frequency will be used when $\mu > 0$, and sometimes an abuse of notation will be employed. In particular, we will write (leading to no ambiguity) $I^m(\lambda, u) \equiv I^m(e^{\lambda}, u), P(\lambda, u) \equiv P(e^{\lambda}, u)$. Thus, the (action, Lagrangian, Pohožaev) functionals $J(\lambda, u)$, $I^m(\lambda, u)$, $P(\lambda, u)$ over $\mathbb{R} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ are given in (5.8) and at the beginning of Subsection 5.1. The Pohožaev (set, minimal action) \mathcal{P}_{μ} , $a(\mu)$ are given in (3.1), (3.3), while \mathcal{P} , $\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}$, \mathcal{P}_+ , d^m , d^m_+ can be found in (1.15), (1.22), (5.6), (1.17), and (5.7). The frequency thresholds $\overline{\mu}_0$, $\overline{\lambda}_0$ appear in (1.18) and (5.10). The Legendre-type minimum b^m is given in (5.11), while the mass threshold m_0 appears in (5.12).

2 Preliminaries

We first re-write here g_{\pm} and G_{\pm} , introduced in (1.9)-(1.10), in different terms:

$$G_{+}(t) := \begin{cases} \int_{0}^{t} g^{+}(\tau) d\tau & \text{if } t \geq 0, \\ \int_{0}^{0} g^{-}(\tau) d\tau & \text{if } t < 0, \end{cases} \qquad G_{-}(t) := \begin{cases} \int_{0}^{t} g^{-}(\tau) d\tau & \text{if } t \geq 0, \\ \int_{0}^{0} g^{+}(\tau) d\tau & \text{if } t < 0, \end{cases}$$

$$g_{+}(t) := G'_{+}(t) = \begin{cases} g^{+}(t) & \text{if } t \ge 0, \\ -g^{-}(t) & \text{if } t \le 0, \end{cases} \quad g_{-}(t) := G'_{-}(t) = \begin{cases} g^{-}(t) & \text{if } t \ge 0, \\ -g^{+}(t) & \text{if } t \le 0. \end{cases}$$

Clearly, we have $G_{\pm}(t) \geq 0$ and $g_{\pm}(t)t \geq 0$ for each $t \in \mathbb{R}$; moreover,

$$G = G_+ - G_-, \quad g = g_+ - g_-,$$

and

$$G_+(t) \ge G(t) \ge -G_-(t), \quad g_-(t)t \le g(t)t \le g_+(t)t \quad \text{for } t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Generally, G_{\pm} do not coincide with G^{\pm} , and unlike G^{\pm} , we have $G_{\pm} \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathbb{R})$. Finally, we notice that, if g is odd, then G_+, G_- are even.

We briefly recall that the fractional Laplacian $(-\Delta)^s u := \mathcal{F}^{-1}(|\xi|^{2s}\mathcal{F}(u)), s \in (0,1)$, whenever u is regular enough, can be expressed pointwise as

$$(-\Delta)^s u(x) = C_{N,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{u(x) - u(y)}{|x - y|^{N+2s}} dy,$$

for some suitable $C_{N,s} > 0$; we refer to [30, Section 1.2]. We recall the fractional Sobolev space

$$H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) := \left\{ u \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \mid |\cdot|^{s} \mathcal{F}(u) \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \right\}$$

$$(2.1)$$

and define

$$\langle u, v \rangle := \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u (-\Delta)^{s/2} v \, dx = C_{N,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{(u(x) - u(y))(v(x) - v(y))}{|x - y|^{N+2s}} \, dx \, dy.$$

It is well-known that $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \hookrightarrow L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $q \in [2, 2_s^*]$, while $H^s_{\text{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N) \hookrightarrow L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is compact for $q \in (2, 2_s^*)$; here $H^s_{\text{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ stands for the subspace of $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ composed of radially symmetric functions. We recall, moreover, the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality [47]

$$|u|_{\bar{p}+1}^{\bar{p}+1} \le C_{GN}|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u|_2^2|u|_2^{\bar{p}-1},\tag{2.2}$$

where $C_{\rm GN} > 0$ is optimal. We also recall some basic properties (see, e.g., [30, Lemma 1.4.1]).

Lemma 2.1 Let $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Then $u^{\pm}, |u| \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with $|(-\Delta)^{s/2}(u^{\pm})|_2 \le |(-\Delta)^{s/2}u|_2$ and $|(-\Delta)^{s/2}|u||_2 \le |(-\Delta)^{s/2}u|_2$. Finally, $\langle u, u^+ \rangle \ge \langle u^+, u^+ \rangle$ and $\langle u, u^- \rangle \le \langle u^-, u^- \rangle$.

We show the following elementary convergence result.

Lemma 2.2 Let $v \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Let $v_R := v\varphi_R$, where $\varphi_R := \varphi(\cdot/R)$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is chosen $0 \le \varphi \le 1$, $\varphi = 1$ in $B_1(0)$, $\varphi = 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^N \setminus B_2(0)$. Then,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u(-\Delta)^{s/2} v_R \, \mathrm{d}x \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u(-\Delta)^{s/2} v \, \mathrm{d}x \quad as \ R \to +\infty$$

for each $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

Proof. We compute

$$\frac{1}{C_{N,s}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u(-\Delta)^{s/2} (v_{R} - v) dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} \frac{\left(u(x) - u(y)\right) \left((\varphi_{R}(x) - 1)v(x) - (\varphi_{R}(y) - 1)v(y)\right)}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} dx dy$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} (\varphi_{R}(x) - 1) \frac{\left(u(x) - u(y)\right) \left(v(x) - v(y)\right)}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} dx dy$$

$$+ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} \frac{\left(u(x) - u(y)\right) \left(\varphi_{R}(x) - \varphi_{R}(y)\right)}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} v(y) dx dy =: (I_{1}) + (I_{2}).$$

As regards (I_1) , we observe that

$$\frac{\left|u(x) - u(y)\right| \left|v(x) - v(y)\right|}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} = \left(\frac{\left|u(x) - u(y)\right|^2}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{\left|v(x) - v(y)\right|^2}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}}\right)^{1/2} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2N}),$$

thus we can apply the dominated convergence theorem. Regarding (I_2) , we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2N}} \frac{\left(u(x) - u(y)\right)\left(\varphi_R(x) - \varphi_R(y)\right)}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} v(y) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y$$

$$\leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\left|u(x) - u(y)\right|^2}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\left|\varphi_R(x) - \varphi_R(y)\right|^2}{|x - y|^{N + 2s}} v^2(y) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y\right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

and we can apply [3, Lemma 1.4.5].

Lemma 2.3 Assume (g0)-(g2). Then the functional

$$u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) \, \mathrm{d}x \in \mathbb{R}$$

is differentiable at every $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ along every direction $\varphi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

Proof. We study $\lim_{t\to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{G(u+t\varphi)-G(u)}{t} dx$ and then apply Vitali's convergence theorem. We estimate thus

$$\left| \frac{G(u + t\varphi) - G(u)}{t} \right| = \left| \frac{1}{t} \int_{u}^{u + t\varphi} g(\tau) \, d\tau \right| \le \left| \frac{1}{t} \int_{u}^{u + t\varphi} 1 + |\tau|^{2_{s}^{*} - 1} \, d\tau \right|
\le |\varphi| + \left| \frac{1}{t} \int_{u}^{u + t\varphi} |\tau|^{2_{s}^{*} - 1} \, d\tau \right| \le |\varphi| + \left| \frac{1}{t} \int_{u}^{u + t\varphi} (|u| + |\varphi|)^{2_{s}^{*} - 1} \, d\tau \right|
= |\varphi| + (|u| + |\varphi|)^{2_{s}^{*} - 1} |\varphi| \lesssim |\varphi| + |u|^{2_{s}^{*} - 1} |\varphi| + |\varphi|^{2_{s}^{*}},$$

where we used the convexity of $t^{2^*_s-1}$. Then, fixed $A \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ measurable, we have

$$\int_{A} \left| \frac{G(u + t\varphi) - G(u)}{t} \right| dx \lesssim \int_{A} |\varphi| dx + |u|_{2_{s}^{*}}^{2_{s}^{*} - 1} \left(\int_{A} |\varphi|^{2_{s}^{*}} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2_{s}^{*}}} + \int_{A} |\varphi|^{2_{s}^{*}} dx$$

and thus we get both the uniform integrability and the tightness. This allows us to pass to the limit and get the claim.

Definition 2.4 By weak solution (or simply solution) of (1.1) we mean $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u (-\Delta)^{s/2} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x + \mu \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u) \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x$$

for each $\varphi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$; in particular, it holds for every $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

We highlight that, generally, a solution u of (1.1) is not a critical point of the action functional $J_{\mu} \colon H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \to \mathbb{R}$,

$$J_{\mu}(u) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|^2 dx + \frac{\mu}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) dx, \tag{2.3}$$

since, generally, J_{μ} is not differentiable at u along every $\varphi \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ (see Lemma 2.3); in particular, we cannot ensure that a solution satisfies the Nehari identity. On the other hand, in some circumstances, we will show that this is the case (cf. Proposition 4.3).

Finally, we will use the following definition.

Definition 2.5 A function $u: \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$ is called Schwarz-symmetric if it is nonnegative, radially symmetric, and radially nonincreasing.

3 The mass-free problem

The purpose of this section is to discuss the free-mass problem (i.e., μ fixed). For any $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ we introduce a Pohožaev set

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mu} := \left\{ u \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \setminus \{0\} \mid P_{\mu}(u) = 0 \right\}, \quad \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\text{rad}} := \mathcal{P}_{\mu} \cap H^{s}_{\text{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^{N}), \tag{3.1}$$

where the Pohožaev functional $P_{\mu} \colon H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined by

$$P_{\mu}(u) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + 2_s^* \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\mu}{2} u^2 - G(u) \, \mathrm{d}x. \tag{3.2}$$

Recalled (2.3), we define the least action

$$a(\mu) := \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\text{rad}}} J_{\mu}. \tag{3.3}$$

We notice that, generally, the set \mathcal{P}_{μ} could be empty, and in this case, $a(\mu) = +\infty$. Here we list a series of properties that hold for $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ under (g0)-(g2).

Lemma 3.1 Assume (g0)-(g2) and let $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, the following statements are equivalent.

- (a) $\mu < \overline{\mu}_0$.
- (b) There exists $t = t(\mu) \neq 0$ such that $G(t) > \frac{1}{2}\mu t^2$.
- (c) There exists $u \in \mathcal{P}^{rad}_{\mu}$.

Proof. (a) \iff (b) is trivial. If (c) holds, then $u \neq 0$; thus, by the Pohožaev identity,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) - \frac{\mu}{2} u^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x > 0,$$

hence there exists $t(\mu) := u(x_{\mu}), x_{\mu} \in \mathbb{R}^{N}$, such that (b) is verified. Assume (b) holds, from [8, Proof of Theorem 2] (see also [20, Lemma 3.1]) there exists $\bar{u} \in H^{1}_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \subset H^{s}_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left(G(\bar{u}) - \frac{\mu}{2}\bar{u}^{2}\right) \mathrm{d}x > 0$. Then, for t > 0, straightforward computations show that

$$P_{\mu}(\bar{u}(\cdot/t)) = \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2}\bar{u}|^2 dx\right) t^{N-2s} + 2_s^* \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\mu}{2} \bar{u}^2 - G(\bar{u}) dx\right) t^N$$

is positive when t is small and negative when t is large, hence there exists $\bar{t} > 0$ such that $P_{\mu}(\bar{u}(\cdot/\bar{t})) = 0$, whence (c).

Remark 3.2 By the previous proof we notice the following fact: for every $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $P_{\mu}(u) \leq 0$, we have $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left(G(u) - \frac{\mu}{2}u^2\right) dx > 0$, thus there exists $t_0 > 0$ such that $u(\cdot/t_0) \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}$. Moreover, using that $P_{\mu}(u) \leq 0$ and that $t \in (0, \infty) \mapsto \frac{1}{2}t^{N-2s} - \frac{1}{2_s^*}t^N \in \mathbb{R}$ is maximized at t = 1, there holds

$$J_{\mu}(u(\cdot/t_0)) = \frac{t_0^{N-2s}}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^s u|^2 dx - t_0^N \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) - \frac{\mu}{2} u^2 dx$$

$$\leq \left(\frac{t_0^{N-2s}}{2} - \frac{t_0^N}{2_s^*}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^s u|^2 dx \leq \frac{s}{N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^s u|^2 dx \leq J_{\mu}(u),$$

that is, $J_{\mu}(u(\cdot/t_0)) \leq J_{\mu}(u)$. Notice that this fact does not depend on the sign of μ .

Lemma 3.3 Let $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ and assume (g0)–(g2). If $\mathcal{P}_{\mu} \neq \emptyset$ and $u \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}$ is such that $J_{\mu}(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu}$, then $\omega := \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) - \frac{\mu}{2} u^2 dx > 0$ and

$$\frac{1}{2}|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u|_2^2 = \min\left\{\frac{1}{2}|(-\Delta)^{s/2}v|_2^2 \mid v \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N), \ \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(v) - \frac{\mu}{2}v^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = \omega\right\}. \tag{3.4}$$

Proof. First, notice that since $\mathcal{P}_{\mu} \neq \emptyset$, there exists a function $v \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(v) - \frac{\mu}{2} v^2 dx = 1$, thus the minimization problem

$$T := \inf \left\{ \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} v|_2^2 \mid v \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N), \ \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(v) - \frac{\mu}{2} v^2 \, \mathrm{d}x = 1 \right\}$$

is well defined. Moreover, every such function verifies $G(v) \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$. We adapt now the proof of [13, Lemma 1 (ii)]. We notice that we do not need to assume that the Pohožaev identity holds for every solution or that T is a priori attained. Since $u \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}$, we have that

$$J_{\mu}(u) \ge 2s(N-2s)^{\frac{N}{2s}-1}N^{-\frac{N}{2s}}T^{\frac{N}{2s}} =: \widetilde{T}.$$

Now, let $(v_n)_n$ be a minimizing sequence for T, and let $t_n > 0$ be such that $v_n(\cdot/t_n) \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}$. Then, since $J_{\mu}(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu}$,

$$\widetilde{T} \le J_{\mu}(u) \le J_{\mu}(v_n(\cdot/t_n)) = \widetilde{T} + o_n(1),$$

and we conclude letting $n \to +\infty$ and via scaling arguments.

Proposition 3.4 Assume (g0)-(g2) and let $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$. Then $a(\mu) \geq 0$ and the following relation holds

$$a(\mu) = \inf \left\{ J_{\mu}(u) \mid u \in H^{s}_{\text{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \setminus \{0\}, \ P_{\mu}(u) \le 0 \right\}.$$
 (3.5)

Moreover, $a: \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty]$ is nondecreasing. Finally, if $\mu > 0$ and $\mathcal{P}^{rad}_{\mu} \neq \emptyset$, then a is continuous at μ .

Proof. By definition of $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\mathrm{rad}}$, we have

$$a(\mu) = \frac{s}{N} \inf_{u \in \mathcal{P}_{rad}^{rad}} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_2^2 \ge 0.$$

To show relation (3.5), observe that if $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\mathrm{rad}} = \emptyset$, then $\{u \in H_{\mathrm{rad}}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \setminus \{0\} \mid P_{\mu}(u) \leq 0\} = \emptyset$ as well from Remark 3.2, hence both sides of (3.5) equal $+\infty$. Next, assume $P_{\mu}(u) \leq 0$; thus, by Remark 3.2 there exists $t_{0} > 0$ such that $P_{\mu}(u(\cdot/t_{0})) = 0$, and moreover, $J_{\mu}(u(\cdot/t_{0})) \leq J_{\mu}(u)$, hence

$$a(\mu) \le J_{\mu}(u(\cdot/t_0)) \le J_{\mu}(u)$$

and we can pass to the infimum. The reverse inequality is obvious. We show now the monotonicity. Let $\mu_1 < \mu_2$. If $\mathcal{P}^{\rm rad}_{\mu_2} = \emptyset$, then it clearly holds. Otherwise, let $u \in \mathcal{P}^{\rm rad}_{\mu_2}$. Then $P_{\mu_1}(u) < P_{\mu_2}(u) = 0$ and by (3.5) we have

$$a(\mu_1) \le J_{\mu_1}(u) < J_{\mu_2}(u);$$
 (3.6)

passing to the infimum, we have the claim. We show now the continuity. The upper semi-continuity follows by the fact that $a(\mu)$ is the infimum of the family of continuous functions $\{\mu \mapsto J_{\mu}(u) \mid u \in H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N) \setminus \{0\}, \ P_{\mu}(u) = 0\}$. We focus on the lower semicontinuity and fix $\mu_n \to \mu > 0$. From (g0) and Lemma 3.1, $\mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}}_{\mu_n} \neq \emptyset$ for all sufficiently large n; in addition, we can assume $\mu^* := \inf_n \mu_n > 0$, and by upper semicontinuity, $M := \sup_n a(\mu_n) < \infty$. For each n, let $(u_k^n)_k \subset H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N) \setminus \{0\}$ be a minimizing sequence for $a(\mu_n)$, that is, $P_{\mu_n}(u_k^n) = 0$ and $J_{\mu_n}(u_k^n) \to a(\mu_n)$ as $k \to +\infty$. Let now $v_n := u_{k_n}^n$ be such that $J_{\mu_n}(v_n) \leq a(\mu_n) + \frac{1}{n} \leq M + 1$. We show that $(v_n)_n$ is bounded. Indeed, by the Pohožaev identity we have

$$\frac{s}{N}|(-\Delta)^{s/2}v_n|_2^2 = J_{\mu_n}(v_n) \le M + 1$$

and, again by the Pohožaev identity and the assumptions on G_{+} ,

$$\frac{\mu^*}{2}|v_n|_2^2 \le \frac{\mu_n}{2}|v_n|_2^2 \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(v_n) \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_{2_s^*}^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^{2_s^*} \, \mathrm{d}x + C \le \frac{\delta}{2}|v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^2 + C_\delta |v_n|_2^2$$

where, by choosing $\delta < \mu^*$, we obtain the boundedness of v_n in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Thus, $v_n \rightharpoonup v$ in $H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, which yields $P_{\mu}(v) \leq \liminf_n P_{\mu_n}(v_n) = 0$ and, in view of (3.5),

$$a(\mu) \le J_{\mu}(v) \le \liminf_{n} J_{\mu_n}(v_n) \le \liminf_{n} a(\mu_n),$$

which is the claim.

Proposition 3.5 Assume (g0)-(g2) and let $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$.

(i) All minimizers of J_{μ} over $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\mathrm{rad}}$ (resp. \mathcal{P}_{μ}) are solutions to

$$(-\Delta)^s u + \mu u = g(u) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N. \tag{3.7}$$

- (ii) All minimizers of J_{μ} over \mathcal{P}_{μ} are radially symmetric about a point.
- (iii) All nonnegative minimizers of J_{μ} over \mathcal{P}_{μ} or $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\mathrm{rad}}$ are Schwarz-symmetric up to a translation.
- (iv) If $g(t) \mu t \ge 0$ for all $t \le 0$, then every solution to (3.7) such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_-(u)u \, dx < +\infty$ is nonnegative.

The proof of Proposition 3.5 is analogous to those of Propositions 1.7 and 1.12 (see Subsections 4.2, 5.2 and 6.2), hence it is omitted. We now state the main theorem of this section.

Theorem 3.6 Let $\mu > 0$ and $g \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R})$ satisfy

- $|g(t)| \lesssim |t| + |t|^{2_s^*-1}$ for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$;
- $\limsup_{t\to 0} \frac{G(t)}{t^2} \le 0$ and $\limsup_{|t|\to\infty} \frac{G(t)}{|t|^{2_s^*}} \le 0$;
- there exists $t_0 \neq 0$ such that $G(t_0) > \frac{1}{2}\mu t_0^2$.

Then the following statements hold true.

(i) There exists $v_0 \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\mathrm{rad}}$ such that

$$J_{\mu}(v_0) = a(\mu)$$

and thus $a(\mu) > 0$. Moreover, $a: (0, +\infty) \to (0, +\infty)$ is increasing.

(ii) If $g|_{(-\infty,0)} = 0$ or g is odd, then there exists a Schwarz-symmetric minimizer of J_{μ} over \mathcal{P}_{μ} ; in particular,

$$\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\mathrm{rad}}} J_{\mu}.$$

Proof.

(i) From the assumptions, we see that for every $\delta > 0$ there exists $C_{\delta} > 0$ such that for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$

$$G(t) \le \delta t^2 + C_\delta |t|^{2_s^*},$$

whence, for every $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$,

$$\frac{1}{2_s^*} P_{\mu}(u) \ge \frac{1}{2_s^*} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_2^2 + \frac{\mu}{2} |u|_2^2 - \delta |u|_2^2 - C_{\delta} |u|_{2_s^*}^{2_s^*} \ge \left(\min\left\{\frac{1}{2_s^*}, \frac{\mu}{2}\right\} - \delta\right) \|u\|_{H^s}^2 - C_{\delta} \|u\|_{H^s}^{2_s^*}.$$

Taking $0 < \delta < \min\{1/2_s^*, \mu/2\}$, we see that $P_{\mu}(u) > 0$ if $||u||_{H^s}$ is sufficiently small. Let now $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\text{rad}}$ such that $\lim_n J_{\mu}(u_n) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\text{rad}}} J_{\mu}$. Since $P_{\mu}(u_n) = 0$, we see that

$$\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} + o(1) = J_{\mu}(u_n) - \frac{1}{2_s^*} P_{\mu}(u_n) = \frac{s}{N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_n|_2^2,$$

which yields that $|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u_n|_2$ is bounded, and, using the same δ -related argument as before, that

$$\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} + o(1) = J_{\mu}(u_n) - \frac{1}{2} P_{\mu}(u_n) = -\frac{\mu}{2} \left(\frac{2_s^*}{2} - 1 \right) |u_n|_2^2 + \left(\frac{2_s^*}{2} - 1 \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u_n) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\leq -\frac{\mu}{2} \left(\frac{2_s^*}{2} - 1 \right) |u_n|_2^2 + \left(\frac{2_s^*}{2} - 1 \right) \left(\delta |u_n|_2^2 + C_{\delta} |u_n|_{2_s^*}^{2_s^*} \right).$$

Since $|u_n|_{2_s^*}$ is bounded from the previous step and the fractional Sobolev embedding, taking $\delta < \mu/2$ we obtain that $|u_n|_2$ is bounded as well, i.e., $||u_n||_{H^s}$ is bounded. We can then consider a subsequence, still denoted by u_n , and $u_0 \in H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that $u_n \rightharpoonup u_0$ in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $u_n \to u_0$ a.e. in \mathbb{R}^N , and $u_n \to u_0$ in $L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for every $q \in (2, 2_s^*)$. In particular, using the weak lower semi-continuity of the norm and Fatou's lemma, we get that $J_{\mu}(u_0) \leq \inf_{\mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}}_{\mu}} J_{\mu}$ and $P_{\mu}(u_0) \leq 0$. In addition, recalling $P_{\mu}(u_n) = 0$, we have by the strong convergence in $L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$,

$$|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u_0|_2^2 + \frac{2_s^*\mu}{2}|u_0|_2^2 + 2_s^* \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-(u_0) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\leq \limsup_n \left(|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u_n|_2^2 + \frac{2_s^*\mu}{2}|u_n|_2^2 + 2_s^* \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-(u_n) \, \mathrm{d}x \right)$$

$$= \limsup_n \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_+(u_n) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_+(u_0) \, \mathrm{d}x;$$

if $u_0 \equiv 0$, the above relation implies $u_n \to 0$ in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$, which is impossible because $P_{\mu}(u) > 0$ for small u. Since $u_0 \neq 0$, by Remark 3.2 we can find $t_0 > 0$ such that $P_{\mu}(u_0(\cdot/t_0)) = 0$ and $J_{\mu}(u(\cdot/t_0)) \leq J_{\mu}(u_0)$, so the sought minimizer is $v_0 := u_0(\cdot/t_0)$. By the Pohožaev identity we also have $a(\mu) = J_{\mu}(v_0) = \frac{s}{N} \|(-\Delta)^{s/2}v_0\|_2^2 > 0$.

To show the strict monotonicity, arguing as in (3.6), in the case $\mu_2 > 0$ we choose u as the minimum corresponding to μ_2 . Hence, we have

$$a(\mu_1) \le J_{\mu_1}(u) < J_{\mu_2}(u) = a(\mu_2).$$

(ii) We start with the case when g is odd. Let $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{P}_{\mu}$ be such that $\lim_n J_{\mu}(u_n) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu}$. From Lemma 2.1, $J_{\mu}(|u_n|) \leq J_{\mu}(u_n)$ and $P_{\mu}(|u_n|) \leq P_{\mu}(u_n) = 0$. If $t_n > 0$ is such that $P_{\mu}(|u_n|(\cdot/t_n)) = 0$, then we obtain $\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} \leq J_{\mu}(|u_n|(\cdot/t_n)) \leq J_{\mu}(|u_n|) \leq J_{\mu}(u_n)$ by Remark 3.2. This proves that, up to replacing u_n with $|u_n|(\cdot/t_n)$, we can assume that $u_n \geq 0$ for every n. In a very similar way, using the Schwarz rearrangement and the fractional Polyá–Szegő inequality [46], we can assume that every u_n is Schwarz symmetric. We can now conclude in the very same way as in point (i). If $g|_{(-\infty,0)} = 0$, we argue as above, except we use u_n^+ instead of $|u_n|$.

Remark 3.7 We observe the following facts.

- (i) Theorem 3.6 (i) is a refinement of [14, Theorem 1.2 (i)], where the main additional assumption is the existence of $q \in (2, 2_s^*)$ such that $\lim_{t\to 0} g(t)/|t|^{q-1} = 0$. At the same time, Proposition 3.5 shows that [14, Theorem 1.2 (ii)-(iii)] holds under considerably weaker assumptions (in particular, (g1)).
- (ii) In Proposition 3.5 (i), we are not claiming that, for general g, there exists a minimizer over \mathcal{P}_{μ} ; on the other hand, from Proposition 3.5 (ii), we deduce that $\mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\mathrm{rad}}$ is a natural subset where to search for such a minimizer.

4 Some general properties

For $\rho \in [-\infty, +\infty)$, recall $\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}$ from (1.22) and $\overline{\mu}_0$ from (1.18). We observe that, by Lemma 3.1, if $\rho \in [-\infty, \overline{\mu}_0)$, then $\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)} \supset \mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}}_{(\rho)} \neq \emptyset$; in particular, $\mathcal{P} \neq \emptyset$ always holds.

Remark 4.1 We point out that if (μ, u) minimizes I^m over $\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}$ for some $\rho \in [-\infty, +\infty)$, then u minimizes J_{μ} over \mathcal{P}_{μ} .

4.1 Connection among infima

We prove now Propositions 1.5 and 1.6.

Proof of Proposition 1.5. Let $(\mu_n, u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{P}$ be a minimizing sequence for $\inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^m$, that is, $I^m(\mu_n, u_n) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^m + o(1)$; recall that $u_n \neq 0$ by the definition of \mathcal{P} . Consider $t_n := (m/|u_n|_2^2)^{1/N}$ such that $v_n := u_n(\cdot/t_n) \in \mathcal{S}_m$. We notice, by the Pohožaev identity,

$$I^{m}(\mu_{n}, u_{n}) = \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{n}|_{2}^{2} + \frac{\mu_{n} |u_{n}|_{2}^{2}}{2} (1 - t_{n}^{N}) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G(u_{n}) dx$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{n}|_{2}^{2} + (1 - t_{n}^{N}) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G(u_{n}) dx - \frac{1}{2_{s}^{*}} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{n}|_{2}^{2} \right) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G(u_{n}) dx$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2_{s}^{*}} (1 - t_{n}^{N}) \right) |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{n}|_{2}^{2} - t_{n}^{N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G(u_{n}) dx$$

$$= \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2_{s}^{*}} (1 - t_{n}^{N}) \right) \frac{1}{t_{n}^{N-2s}} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} v_{n}|_{2}^{2} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G(v_{n}) dx$$

$$\geq \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} v_{n}|_{2}^{2} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G(v_{n}) dx = K(v_{n}),$$

where we used that $\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2_s^*} (1 - t^N) \ge \frac{1}{2} t^{N-2s}$ for all t > 0, which is true by a straightforward computation. Thus, we have shown

$$\inf_{S_m} K \le K(v_n) \le I^m(\mu_n, u_n) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^m + o(1).$$

Passing to the limit in n, we obtain

$$\inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K \le \inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^m. \tag{4.1}$$

Assume now $\rho \in [0, +\infty)$ and $\inf_{\mathcal{D}_m} K < -\frac{\rho}{2}m$. We can thus choose a minimizing sequence $(u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{D}_m$ such that $\lim_n K(u_n) = \inf_{\mathcal{D}_m} K$ and $K(u_n) < -\frac{\rho}{2}m \leq 0$ for every n (which implies $u_n \neq 0$) and define

$$\mu_n := \frac{2}{N|u_n|_2^2} \left(s|(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_n|_2^2 - NK(u_n) \right) \ge -\frac{2}{|u_n|_2^2} K(u_n) > \rho$$

so that $(\mu_n, u_n) \in \mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}$. This, together with $\mu_n > 0$ and $|u_n|_2^2 \leq m$, yields

$$\inf_{\mathcal{D}_m} K + o_n(1) = K(u_n) \ge I^m(\mu_n, u_n) \ge \inf_{\mathcal{P}(\rho)} I^m,$$

and passing to the limit in n we get $\inf_{\mathcal{D}_m} K \geq \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m$. Arguing similarly for $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K < -\frac{\rho}{2} m$ we obtain $\inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K \geq \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m$. Choosing $\rho = -\infty$ and recalling (4.1), we get (1.23). Gathering the previous inequalities we conclude the proof.

Finally, we show the last relation arguing as in the proof of (3.5). Indeed, considered $(\mu, u) \in$ $(\rho,+\infty) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ with $P(\mu,u) \leq 0$, there exists $t_0 > 0$ such that $P(\mu,u(\cdot/t_0)) = 0$ and $I^m(\mu, u(\cdot/t_0)) \leq I^m(\mu, u)$, thus

$$\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m \le I^m(\mu, u(\cdot/t_0)) \le I^m(\mu, u)$$

and hence the claim passing to the infimum (the other inequality is obvious).

Proof of Proposition 1.6. Let $\mu \in (\rho, \overline{\mu}_0)$. From Lemma 3.1, $\mathcal{P}_{\mu} \neq \emptyset$ (thus $\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu}$ is well defined). Then, for any $u \in \mathcal{P}_{\mu}$, we have

$$\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m \le I^m(\mu, u) = J_{\mu}(u) - \frac{\mu}{2}m.$$

Passing to the infimum over u, we have $\inf_{\mathcal{P}(\rho)} I^m \leq \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} - \frac{\mu}{2} m$. Passing to the infimum over μ , we have $\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m \leq \inf_{\rho < \mu < \overline{\mu}_0} \left(\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} - \frac{\mu}{2} m \right)$. Let now $(\nu, u) \in \mathcal{P}_{\rho}$, which implies $\nu \in (\rho, \overline{\mu}_0)$. As a consequence

$$I^{m}(\nu, u) = J_{\nu}(u) - \frac{\nu}{2} \ge \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\nu}} J_{\nu} - \frac{\nu}{2} \ge \inf_{\rho < \mu < \overline{\mu}_{0}} \left(\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} - \frac{\mu}{2} m \right).$$

Passing to the infimum over (ν, u) we obtain $\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}} I^m \geq \inf_{\rho < \mu < \overline{\mu}_0} \left(\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} - \frac{\mu}{2} m\right)$, whence the claim.

L^2 -minima, Pohožaev identity, and critical points

Proposition 4.2 Assume (g0)-(g2). Let $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

- (i) If $u \in \mathcal{S}_m$ is an L^2 -minimum for K, i.e., $K(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K$, then u is a solution of (1.1)for some Lagrange multiplier $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$, and (μ, u) satisfies the Pohožaev identity.
- (ii) If $u \in \mathcal{D}_m$ is such that $K(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{D}_m} K$ and $|u|_2^2 < m$, then u is a solution of (1.1) with Lagrange multiplier $\mu = 0$, and (μ, u) satisfies the Pohožaev identity.
- (iii) If $(\mu, u) \in \mathcal{P}$ and K(u) < 0, then $\mu > 0$.
- (iv) If $u \in \mathcal{D}_m$ is such that $K(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{D}_m} K < 0$, then $u \in \mathcal{S}_m$; in particular, $K(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K$.

Proof. (i) First, we show that u is a solution. Indeed, let $\varphi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$; being $u \neq 0$, for $t \in \mathbb{R}$ with |t| small we can assume $u + t\varphi \neq 0$. Thus, for each t we choose $\theta(t) > 0$ such that $|(u+t\varphi)(\cdot/\theta(t))|_2^2 = m$, that is, $\theta(t) := \left(m|u+t\varphi|_2^{-2}\right)^{1/N}$. Let $\gamma(t) := K\left((u+t\varphi)(\cdot/\theta(t))\right)$; due to the differentiability of θ and the arguments of the proof of Lemma 2.3, we have that γ is differentiable. Being t=0 a point of minimum for γ , we have $\gamma'(0)=0$, that is (notice $\theta(0)=1$),

$$\frac{N - 2s}{2}\theta'(0)|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u|_2^2 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2}u(-\Delta)^{s/2}\varphi \,dx - N\theta'(0) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) \,dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u)\varphi \,dx = 0$$

and hence (being $\theta'(t)=-\frac{2}{N}m^{1/N}|u+t\varphi|_2^{-2/N-2}\int_{\mathbb{R}^N}(u+t\varphi)\varphi\,\mathrm{d}x)$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u (-\Delta)^{s/2} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x - \frac{2}{m} \left(\frac{1}{2_s^*} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_2^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) \, \mathrm{d}x \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u) \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x = 0.$$

Set

$$\mu := -\frac{2}{m} \left(\frac{1}{2_s^*} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_2^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) \right) \in \mathbb{R}, \tag{4.2}$$

we have the claim. We see that the Pohožaev identity directly comes from the definition of μ in (4.2).

(ii) The statement is obvious for $u \equiv 0$. Arguing as in (i), let $\varphi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$; being $u \neq 0$, for $t \in \mathbb{R}$ with |t| small we can assume $u + t\varphi \neq 0$ and $|u + t\varphi|_2^2 < m$. By the minimality of t = 0 for $t \mapsto K(u + t\varphi)$ we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u (-\Delta)^{s/2} \varphi \, dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u) \varphi \, dx = 0$$

which implies that u is a solution with zero Lagrange multiplier. To show the Pohožaev identity, consider the map $t \mapsto K(u(\cdot/t))$, where $|u(\cdot/t)|_2^2 < m$ for t close to 1. Being t = 1 a point of minimum, we have

$$\frac{N-2s}{2}|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u|_2^2 - N \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) \, \mathrm{d}x = 0$$

which is the claim.

The proof of (iii) is straightforward. Point (iv) follows by (ii) and (iii).

We prove now Proposition 1.7. We underline that, unlike [14], we employ a direct proof without relying on a deformation lemma.

Proof of Proposition 1.7. Let $r, t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\varphi \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$, and define $\sigma = \sigma(r, t) > 0$ such that $P(\mu + r, u(\cdot/\sigma) + t\varphi(\cdot/\sigma)) = 0$, that is,

$$\sigma(r,t) := \left(\frac{1}{2_s^*} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} (u + t\varphi)|_2^2 \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u + t\varphi) - \frac{\mu + r}{2} (u + t\varphi)^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^{-1} \right)^{\frac{1}{2s}}.$$

Indeed, since $P(\mu, u) = 0$, we know that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u) - \frac{\mu}{2} u^2 dx > 0$, thus for |r|, |t| small the above expression is well defined. Moreover we can assume |r| small such that $\mu + r > \rho$, thus $(\mu + r, u(\cdot/\sigma) + t\varphi(\cdot/\sigma)) \in \mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}$.

Being $P(\mu, u) = 0$, we have $\sigma(0, 0) = 1$. Next, we compute

$$I^{m}(\mu+r, u(\cdot/\sigma)+t\varphi(\cdot/\sigma))$$

$$=\frac{\sigma^{N-2s}}{2}|(-\Delta)^{s/2}(u+t\varphi)|_{2}^{2}+\frac{\mu+r}{2}(\sigma^{N}|u+t\varphi|_{2}^{2}-m)-\sigma^{N}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}}G(u+t\varphi)\,\mathrm{d}x.$$

By Lemma 2.3, the map $t \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(u + t\varphi) dx$, and so σ as well, is differentiable at 0. Since (μ, u) is a minimizer, the gradient of $I^m(\mu + r, u(\cdot/\sigma) + t\varphi(\cdot/\sigma))$ at (r, t) = (0, 0) is zero. At the same time, recalling that $\sigma(0, 0) = 1$,

$$\partial_r I^m \left(\mu + r, u(\cdot/\sigma) \right) |_{(t,r) = (0,0)} = \frac{N - 2s}{2} \partial_r \sigma(0,0) P(\mu,u) + \frac{1}{2} (|u|_2^2 - m) = \frac{1}{2} (|u|_2^2 - m)$$

and

$$\partial_t I^m (\mu, u(\cdot/\sigma) + t\varphi(\cdot/\sigma))|_{(t,r)=(0,0)} =$$

$$= \frac{N - 2s}{2} \partial_t \sigma(0, 0) P(\mu, u) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u(-\Delta)^{s/2} \varphi + \mu u \varphi - g(u) \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u(-\Delta)^{s/2} \varphi + \mu u \varphi - g(u) \varphi \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Thus, we obtain the claim. We conclude by applying Proposition 1.5.

Proof of Proposition 1.8. It follows by Proposition 4.2 and Proposition 1.5.

Proof of Proposition 1.10.

- (i) From Proposition 1.8 we have that $I^m(\mu, u) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^m$, hence, by Remark 4.1, $J(\mu, u) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_u} J_{\mu}$, and (1.24) follows from Proposition 1.5.
 - (ii) By (1.24) and Proposition 1.5 we have

$$J(\mu, u) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m} K + \frac{\mu}{2} m = \inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^m + \frac{\mu}{2} m,$$

that is, $I^m(\mu, u) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^m$. From Proposition 1.7 we obtain that $u \in \mathcal{S}_m$ and we conclude.

4.3 Nehari identity

Proposition 4.3 (Nehari identity) Assume (g0)-(g2) and let $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$. If $u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is a solution to (1.1) such that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_-(u)u \, dx < \infty$, then u satisfies the Nehari identity

$$|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u|_2^2 + \mu|u|_2^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u)u \,dx.$$

Proof. With the notation of Lemma 2.2, for every R > 0 there holds

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u \ (-\Delta)^{s/2} (\varphi_R u) \, \mathrm{d}x + \mu \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 \varphi_R \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u) \varphi_R u \, \mathrm{d}x. \tag{4.3}$$

Since $|\varphi_R| \leq 1$ and $\lim_{R \to +\infty} \varphi_R = 1$ a.e. in \mathbb{R}^N , from the dominated convergence theorem we obtain

$$\lim_{R\to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 \varphi_R \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{R\to +\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u) \varphi_R u \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u) u \, \mathrm{d}x;$$

using also Lemma 2.2, we can pass to the limit in (4.3) and conclude.

5 The superlinear (perturbed) problem

In this section, where we always assume (g0)-(g2), we study the following perturbed problem

$$\begin{cases}
(-\Delta)^s u + \mu u = g_{\varepsilon}(u), \\
\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u^2 dx = m, \\
(\mu, u) \in (0, +\infty) \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N),
\end{cases}$$
(5.1)

where, for $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$, g_{ε} is defined as follows: let $\varphi_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R},[0,1])$ given by

$$\varphi_{\varepsilon}(t) := \begin{cases} |t|/\varepsilon & \text{for } |t| < \varepsilon, \\ 1 & \text{for } |t| \ge \varepsilon, \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

and set

$$g_-^{\varepsilon}(t) := \varphi_{\varepsilon}(t)g_-(t), \quad G_-^{\varepsilon}(t) := \int_0^t g_-^{\varepsilon}(\tau) d\tau.$$

Then, we define

$$g_{\varepsilon}(t) := g_{+}(t) - g_{-}^{\varepsilon}(t), \quad G_{\varepsilon}(t) := \int_{0}^{t} g_{\varepsilon}(\tau) d\tau = G^{+}(t) - G_{-}^{\varepsilon}(t).$$
 (5.3)

Notice that $\varphi_{\varepsilon} \to 1$ pointwise, thus

$$g_{\varepsilon}(t) \to g(t), \quad G_{\varepsilon}(t) \to G(t) \quad \text{for every } t \in \mathbb{R}$$

as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$. Hence, (5.1) can be considered as an approximating family of problems; the advantage is given by the modification in zero, which suppresses the singularity in the sublinear case:

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{g_{\varepsilon}(t)}{t} = 0. \tag{5.4}$$

We will make large use of the following monotonicity property: if $0 < \varepsilon' < \varepsilon \le 1$, then

$$G_{-}^{\varepsilon} \leq G_{-}^{\varepsilon'} \leq G_{-},$$

which implies, moreover,

$$G_{\varepsilon} \ge G_{\varepsilon'} \ge G$$
, $|G_{\varepsilon}| \le |G_{\varepsilon'}| \le |G|$.

The purpose of this section is to obtain the existence of a Pohožaev minimum for the problem (5.1), furnishing, in addition, a slight generalization of [20] by exploiting the refined Theorem 3.6; such a generalization holds for more general nonlinearities not related to the perturbation process, see Remark 5.3 below.

5.1 ε fixed: some refinement for the superlinear problem

We start by considering $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$ fixed. Assuming $\mu > 0$, to avoid technical issues related to the boundary of $(0, +\infty)$, we exploit the identification

$$\mu \equiv e^{\lambda}.\tag{5.5}$$

A similar approach that does not make use of (5.5) is developed in [30, Section 4.2].

Remark 5.1 The condition $\mu > 0$ is a classical requirement for nonlinearities with superlinear growth at the origin – cf. (5.4) – because it leads to (see [8, 18])

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{g_{\varepsilon}(t) - \mu t}{t} < 0.$$

Making use of (5.5), we can thus reformulate the search for solutions to (5.1) as critical points of the Lagrangian functional $I_{\varepsilon}^m : \mathbb{R} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \to \mathbb{R}$ defined as

$$I_{\varepsilon}^{m}(\lambda, u) := \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_{2}^{2} + \frac{e^{\lambda}}{2} (|u|_{2}^{2} - m) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G_{\varepsilon}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Let us also define $P_{\varepsilon} \colon \mathbb{R} \times H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \to \mathbb{R}$ as

$$P_{\varepsilon}(\lambda, u) := |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_2^2 + 2_s^* \left(\frac{e^{\lambda}}{2} |u|_2^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_{\varepsilon}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x\right),$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon,+} := \left\{ (\lambda, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \mid P_{\varepsilon}(\lambda, u) = 0, \ u \neq 0 \right\}, \quad \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon,+}^{\mathrm{rad}} := \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon,+} \cap \left(\mathbb{R} \times H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N) \right),$$

and

$$d_{\varepsilon,+}^m := \inf_{\mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}}_{\varepsilon,+}} I_{\varepsilon}^m.$$

With an abuse of notation, we redefine consequently on $\mathbb{R} \times H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ also

$$I^m(\lambda, u), P(\lambda, u)$$

defined in (1.13) and (1.16). We also set

$$\mathcal{P}_{+} := \left\{ (\lambda, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \mid P(\lambda, u) = 0, u \neq 0 \right\}, \quad \mathcal{P}_{+}^{\text{rad}} := \mathcal{P}_{+} \cap \left(\mathbb{R} \times H^{s}_{\text{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \right). \tag{5.6}$$

Notice that, with the identification $\mu \equiv e^{\lambda} > 0$, we have

$$d_{+}^{m} := \inf_{(\lambda, u) \in \mathcal{P}_{+}^{\text{rad}}} I^{m}(\lambda, u) = \inf_{(\mu, u) \in \mathcal{P}_{(0)}^{\text{rad}}} I^{m}(\mu, u). \tag{5.7}$$

Moreover, we introduce

$$K_{\varepsilon}(u) := \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_2^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_{\varepsilon}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x, \quad \kappa_{\varepsilon}^m := \inf_{\mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{rad}}} K_{\varepsilon}, \quad \ell_{\varepsilon}^m := \inf_{\mathcal{D}_m^{\mathrm{rad}}} K_{\varepsilon}.$$

The following is the main theorem of this section.

Theorem 5.2 Assume that (g0)-(g4) hold, then there exists $m_{\varepsilon} \geq 0$ such that for every $m > m_{\varepsilon}$ there exists a solution $(\mu_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}}_{\varepsilon,+}$ to (5.1) verifying $I^m(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon}) = d^m_{\varepsilon,+} < 0$. Moreover, if $g|_{(-\infty,0)} = 0$ or g is odd, then for every $m > m_{\varepsilon}$ there exists a Schwarz-symmetric

minimizer of I_{ε}^m over $\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon,+}$; in particular,

$$\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon,+}} I_{\varepsilon}^m = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon,+}^{\mathrm{rad}}} I_{\varepsilon}^m.$$

Remark 5.3 We highlight that the only additional property of g_{ε} with respect to (g0)-(g4) that is used in Theorem 5.2 is the superlinearity at zero of g_{ε} , i.e., (5.4) (or equivalently, from (g1), $\lim_{t\to 0} g_-^{\varepsilon}(t)/t = 0$). Consequently, Theorem 5.2 and all the other properties presented in this section still hold true with g instead of g_{ε} under the additional assumption

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{g_-(t)}{t} = 0.$$

This furnishes a small generalization of the results in [20].

Remark 5.4 We underline that the solution found in Theorem 5.2 has also a minimax characterization. Introduced

$$\Omega_{\varepsilon} := \{ (\lambda, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \mid P_{\varepsilon}(\lambda, u) > 0 \} \cup (\mathbb{R} \times \{0\}),$$

we have $\partial\Omega_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon,+}$ (see [30, Lemma 2.3.1]), and this is treated as a "mountain" in the minimax approach: set

$$\Gamma_{\varepsilon}^m := \left\{ \xi \in \mathcal{C} \big([0,1], \mathbb{R} \times H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N) \big) \; \middle| \; \xi(0) \in \mathbb{R} \times \{0\}, \; \xi(1) \not \in \Omega_{\varepsilon}, \; \max_{i=0,1} I^m_{\varepsilon} \big(\xi(i) \big) \leq d^m_{\varepsilon,+} - 1 \right\},$$

one can prove that [20, Section 6]

$$d_{\varepsilon,+}^{m} = \inf_{\xi \in \Gamma_{\varepsilon}^{m}} \max_{t \in [0,1]} I_{\varepsilon}^{m} (\xi(t)).$$

Moreover, by arguing as in [20], we also obtain (write $g_0 := g$ and $G_0 := G$ for convenience)

- if g is odd, then for each $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $m_{\varepsilon,k} \geq 0$ such that, for $m > m_{\varepsilon,k}$, there exist k (couple of) solutions to (5.1);
- if $\lim_{t\to 0} \frac{G(t)}{|t|^{\bar{p}+1}} = +\infty$, then for each $\varepsilon \in [0,1]$, we have $m_{\varepsilon} = 0$ (and $m_{\varepsilon,k} = 0$ if g is odd). Notice that, in this case, $g = g_+$ in a neighborhood of the origin.

In [20], the existence of a normalized solution is pursued by a Mountain Pass approach, involving a suitable augmented functional and a deformation lemma; the found solution is shown a posteriori to be a Pohožaev minimum. Here we provide a different approach, by minimizing directly the functional on the Pohožaev product set: this proof is not trivial, since a precise sequence of minimizers has to be selected; on the other hand, it requires fewer tools.

To prove Theorem 5.2, we need preliminary estimates on $d_{\varepsilon,+}^m$. This will be given by the interplay of the value of the Pohožaev minimum on the product space and the one with fixed μ .

5.1.1 The Pohožaev asymptotic geometry

To estimate $d^m_{\varepsilon,+}$, we introduce now the Pohožaev geometry related to a fixed frequency λ , in the spirit of Section 3. For $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ we define

$$J(\lambda, u) := \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_{2}^{2} + \frac{e^{\lambda}}{2} |u|_{2}^{2} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G(u) \, dx,$$

$$J_{\varepsilon}(\lambda, u) := \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_{2}^{2} + \frac{e^{\lambda}}{2} |u|_{2}^{2} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G_{\varepsilon}(u) \, dx,$$

$$\mathcal{P}(\lambda) := \left\{ u \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \mid (\lambda, u) \in \mathcal{P}_{+} \right\}, \quad \mathcal{P}^{\text{rad}}(\lambda) := \mathcal{P}(\lambda) \cap H^{s}_{\text{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^{N}),$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) := \left\{ u \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \mid (\lambda, u) \in \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon, +} \right\}, \quad \mathcal{P}^{\text{rad}}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) := \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \cap H^{s}_{\text{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^{N}),$$

$$a(\lambda) := \inf_{\mathcal{P}^{\text{rad}}(\lambda)} J(\lambda, \cdot), \quad a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) := \inf_{\mathcal{P}^{\text{rad}}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)} J_{\varepsilon}(\lambda, \cdot).$$

$$(5.8)$$

Notice that $J(\lambda, u) = J_{e^{\lambda}}(u)$ and $\mathcal{P}(\lambda) = \mathcal{P}_{e^{\lambda}}$ with the notations of Section 3. Moreover, we make again an abuse of notation by writing $a(\lambda) \equiv a(e^{\lambda})$ – see (3.3). We observe that

$$J_{\varepsilon} < J$$
.

To compare $a(\lambda)$ with $a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)$, we make use of (3.5): as a matter of fact, by $P_{\varepsilon} \leq P$ we have $\{P=0\} \subset \{P_{\varepsilon} \leq 0\}$ and thus

$$a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \le a(\lambda).$$
 (5.9)

We highlight that, arguing as in [14], we could give a Mountain Pass characterization of $a(\lambda)$; nonetheless, we will not make use of this characterization for the limit problem. Moreover, we introduce

$$\overline{\mu}_{\varepsilon} := \sup_{t \neq 0} \frac{G_{\varepsilon}(t)}{t^{2}/2} \qquad \overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon} := \log(\overline{\mu}_{\varepsilon})
\geq \sup_{t \neq 0} \frac{G(t)}{t^{2}/2} = \overline{\mu}_{0} \in (0, +\infty] \qquad \geq \log(\overline{\mu}_{0}) =: \overline{\lambda}_{0} \in (-\infty, +\infty]$$
(5.10)

with the convention that $\log(+\infty) = +\infty$. Observe that $\overline{\mu}_0 > 0$ follows from (g4). We highlight that, in what follows, we will sometimes need to distinguish the cases $\overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon} = +\infty$.

We define, for m > 0, the values

$$b_{\varepsilon}^{m} := \inf_{\lambda < \overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon}} \left(a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) - \frac{e^{\lambda}}{2} m \right) \quad \text{and} \quad b^{m} := \inf_{\lambda < \overline{\lambda}_{0}} \left(a(\lambda) - \frac{e^{\lambda}}{2} m \right).$$
 (5.11)

Moreover, by Lemma 3.1 the following thresholds are well defined

$$m_{\varepsilon} := \inf_{\lambda < \overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon}} \frac{a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)}{e^{\lambda}/2} \quad \text{and} \quad m_{0} := \inf_{\lambda < \overline{\lambda}_{0}} \frac{a(\lambda)}{e^{\lambda}/2}.$$
 (5.12)

Observe that, from Lemma 3.1 and since $\overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon} \geq \overline{\lambda}_0$ and $a_0 \geq a_{\varepsilon} \geq 0$ – cf. Proposition 3.4, we have

$$b^m \ge b_{\varepsilon}^m \quad \text{and} \quad m_0 \ge m_{\varepsilon} \ge 0.$$
 (5.13)

As a straightforward consequence of Proposition 1.6, Theorem 3.6, and the definitions of $\overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon}$ and m_{ε} , we obtain the following result.

Proposition 5.5 Assume (g0)-(g2) and (g4). Then

• For every $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ there exists a solution $u_{\lambda,\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)$ to

$$(-\Delta)^s u + e^{\lambda} u = g_{\varepsilon}(u)$$
 in \mathbb{R}^N .

Additionally,

$$J_{\varepsilon}(\lambda, u_{\lambda, \varepsilon}) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{rad}}(\lambda)} J_{\varepsilon}(\lambda, u) = a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) > 0.$$

As a consequence, $a(\lambda) > 0$.

- $d_{\varepsilon,+}^m = b_{\varepsilon}^m$; if $m > m_{\varepsilon}$, then $d_{\varepsilon,+}^m < 0$.
- If $\overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{R}$, then $\min\{P_{\varepsilon}(\lambda, u), J_{\varepsilon}(\lambda, u)\} > 0$ for all $\lambda \geq \overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon}$ and $u \in H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \setminus \{0\}$.

We focus now on properties strictly related to the L^2 -subcritical setting (g3). To start, we observe that for every $\delta > 0$ there exist $C_{\delta}, c_{\delta} > 0$ such that for every $t \in \mathbb{R}$

$$G_{\varepsilon}(t) \le G_{+}(t) \le \frac{\delta}{2} t^{2} + \frac{C_{\delta}}{\bar{p}+1} |t|^{\bar{p}+1}$$
 (5.14)

and

$$G_{\varepsilon}(t) \le G_{+}(t) \le \frac{c_{\delta}}{2}t^{2} + \frac{\delta}{\bar{p}+1}|t|^{\bar{p}+1}. \tag{5.15}$$

Lemma 5.6 (Asymptotic geometry) Assume (g0)-(g4). The following statements hold.

- $\lim_{\lambda \to \overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon}^{-}} a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = +\infty$. If $\overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon} = +\infty$, then $\lim_{\lambda \to +\infty} \frac{a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)}{e^{\lambda}} = +\infty$.
- $d_{\varepsilon,+}^m > -\infty$.

Proof. Recalled (5.14)-(5.15), concerning the first point we have that the first limit can be obtained with the same reasoning as in [20, Proposition 3.3] in light of the monotonicity in Proposition 3.4, while for the second one we can argue as in [20, Proposition 3.4] once the following property is proved:

$$a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \ge (e^{\lambda} - c_{\delta}) \inf_{\mathcal{P}^*(\delta)} J_{\delta}^* \quad \text{if } e^{\lambda} > c_{\delta} \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \inf_{\mathcal{P}^*(\delta)} J_{\delta}^* = +\infty,$$
 (5.16)

where

$$J_{\delta}^{*}(u) := \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} |u|_{2}^{2} - \frac{\delta}{\bar{p}+1} |u|_{\bar{p}+1}^{\bar{p}+1},$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{\delta}^{*} := \left\{ u \in H_{\mathrm{rad}}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{N}) \mid P_{\delta}^{*}(u) = 0 \right\} \setminus \{0\},$$

$$P_{\delta}^*(u) := |(-\Delta)^{s/2}u|_2^2 + 2_s^* \left(\frac{1}{2}|u|_2^2 - \frac{\delta}{\bar{p}+1}|u|_{\bar{p}+1}^{\bar{p}+1}\right)$$

(i.e., P_{δ}^* and \mathcal{P}_{δ}^* are, respectively, the Pohožaev functional and manifold related to J_{δ}^*). For every $\theta > 0$ and $u \in \mathcal{P}(\lambda)$, we define $u_{\theta} := \theta^{-N/(4s)} u(\theta^{-1/(2s)} \cdot)$. Then, using (5.15) and taking $\theta = e^{\lambda} - c_{\delta}$ (which is positive if $\lambda > \log(c_{\delta})$), it is straightforward to verify that

$$J_{\varepsilon}(\lambda, u) \geq \theta J_{\delta}^*(u_{\theta})$$
 and $P_{\delta}^*(u_{\theta}) \leq 0$,

therefore the first property in (5.16) holds thanks to (3.5). As for the second one, by scaling, one readily checks that $P_{\delta}^*(\delta^{-1/(\bar{p}-1)}\cdot) = \delta^{-2/(\bar{p}-1)}P_1^*$, which implies that $\mathcal{P}_{\delta}^* = \delta^{-1/(\bar{p}-1)}\mathcal{P}_1^*$, and $J_{\delta}^*(\delta^{-1/(\bar{p}-1)}\cdot) = \delta^{-2/(\bar{p}-1)}J_1^*$. From this, one obtains $\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\delta}^*}J_{\delta}^* = \delta^{-2/(\bar{p}-1)}\inf_{\mathcal{P}_1^*}J_1^* \to +\infty$ as $\delta \to 0^+$.

Finally, recalled that $d_{\varepsilon,+}^m = b_{\varepsilon}^m$ by Proposition 5.5, the estimate $b_{\varepsilon}^m > -\infty$ is obtained as in [20, Proposition 3.7].

5.1.2 Direct minimization on Pohožaev product

We are now ready to prove the existence of a Pohožaev minimum as stated in Theorem 5.2. **Proof of Theorem 5.2.** By Proposition 5.5 and Lemma 5.6 we know that $d_{\varepsilon,+}^m \in (-\infty, 0)$. Let $(\lambda_n, u_n)_n \subset \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon,+}^{\mathrm{rad}}$ be a minimizing sequence, i.e., $I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda_n, u_n) \to d_{\varepsilon,+}^m$ and $P_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_n, u_n) = 0$. Notice that, being $u_n \in \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{rad}}(\lambda_n)$, by Lemma 3.1 we have $\lambda_n < \overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon}$ for each n.

Step 1. Choice of a proper minimizing sequence.

We build now a minimizing sequence with additional information on the energy levels and on the differential (with respect to u) of I_{ε}^{m} . For each n, by Proposition 5.5 there exists $v_{n} \in \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon}^{\text{rad}}(\lambda_{n})$ such that

$$I_{\varepsilon}^{m}(\lambda_{n}, v_{n}) = a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_{n}) - \frac{e^{\lambda_{n}}}{2}m$$
(5.17)

and

$$\partial_u I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda_n, v_n) = 0. (5.18)$$

From (5.17) we obtain

$$d_{\varepsilon,+}^m \leq I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda_n, v_n) = a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_n) - \frac{e^{\lambda_n}}{2}m \leq J_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_n, u_n) - \frac{e^{\lambda_n}}{2}m = I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda_n, u_n) = d_{\varepsilon,+}^m + o(1).$$

As a consequence, also $(\lambda_n, v_n)_n$ is a minimizing sequence.

Step 2. $(\lambda_n)_n$ is bounded below.

We have

$$\frac{m}{2}e^{\lambda_n} = \frac{1}{2_s^*} P_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_n, v_n) - I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda_n, v_n) + \frac{s}{N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} v_n|_2^2 \ge -I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda_n, v_n),$$

whence

$$\liminf_{n} \frac{m}{2} e^{\lambda_n} \ge -d_{\varepsilon,+}^m > 0.$$

Step 3. $(\lambda_n)_n$ is bounded above.

In this Step we use the L^2 -subcritical nature of the problem. If $\overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon} < +\infty$, then we are done. Otherwise, if by contradiction $\lambda_n \to +\infty$, then by Lemma 5.6 and (5.17) we have

$$d_{\varepsilon,+}^m + o(1) = I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda_n, v_n) = e^{\lambda_n} \left(\frac{a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_n)}{e^{\lambda_n}} - \frac{1}{2}m \right) \to +\infty,$$

which is impossible.

Step 4. $(|(-\Delta)^{s/2}v_n|_2)_n$ is bounded. Indeed,

$$\frac{s}{N}|(-\Delta)^{s/2}v_n|_2^2 = I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda_n, v_n) - \frac{1}{2_s^*}P_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_n, v_n) + \frac{m}{2}e^{\lambda_n} = d_{\varepsilon, +}^m + \frac{m}{2}e^{\lambda_n} + o(1)$$

and thus $|(-\Delta)^{s/2}v_n|_2^2$ is bounded thanks to Step 3.

Step 5. $(|v_n|_2)_n$ is bounded.

By (5.14) we have

$$\begin{split} d_{\varepsilon,+}^{m} + \frac{m}{2} e^{\lambda_{n}} + o(1) &= I_{\varepsilon}^{m}(\lambda_{n}, v_{n}) - \frac{1}{2} P_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_{n}, v_{n}) + \frac{m}{2} e^{\lambda_{n}} \\ &= -\frac{e^{\lambda_{n}}}{2} \left(\frac{2_{s}^{*}}{2} - 1\right) |v_{n}|_{2}^{2} + \left(\frac{2_{s}^{*}}{2} - 1\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G_{\varepsilon}(v_{n}) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \left(\frac{2_{s}^{*}}{2} - 1\right) \left(-\frac{1}{2} \left(e^{\lambda_{n}} - \delta\right) |v_{n}|_{2}^{2} + \frac{C_{\delta}}{\bar{p} + 1} |v_{n}|_{2_{s}^{*}}^{2_{s}^{*}}\right); \end{split}$$

by choosing $\delta < e^{\inf\{\lambda_n\}}$ (possible thanks to Step 2) and exploiting Step 4 (which implies that $|v_n|_{2_s^*}$ is bounded), we obtain that $|v_n|_2$ is bounded as well.

Step 6. $(v_n)_n$ converges strongly in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

In this step, we rely on the superlinearity of the perturbed problem. From Steps 2–5, there exist $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ and $v \in H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ such that, up to a subsequence, $\lambda_n \to \lambda$, $v_n \rightharpoonup v$ in $H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $v_n \to v$ in $L^q(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for $q \in (2, 2^*_s)$, and $v_n(x) \to v(x)$ for a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$. In particular, from (g0)-(g3),

$$\lim_{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} g_{\varepsilon}(v_{n}) v \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} g_{\varepsilon}(v) v \, dx \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} g_{+}(v_{n}) v_{n} \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} g_{+}(v) v \, dx;$$

moreover, from (5.18) we have

$$\partial_u I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda_n, v_n)[v] = 0 = \partial_u I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda_n, v_n)[v_n].$$

Thus, exploiting the weak convergence, Fatou's lemma (recall $g_-^{\varepsilon}(t)t \geq 0$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$) and that $\lambda_n \to \lambda$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} &|(-\Delta)^{s/2}v|_2^2 + e^{\lambda}|v|_2^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_{\varepsilon}(v)v \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &= \lim_n \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} v_n (-\Delta)^{s/2} v \,\mathrm{d}x + e^{\lambda_n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v_n v \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_{\varepsilon}(v_n) v \,\mathrm{d}x = 0 \\ &= \lim_n \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} v_n|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + e^{\lambda_n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v_n^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_{\varepsilon}(v_n) v_n \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &= \lim_n \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} v_n|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + e^{\lambda_n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v_n^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_{-}^{\varepsilon}(v_n) v_n \,\mathrm{d}x \right) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_{+}(v) v \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\geq \lim_n \inf \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} v_n|^2 \,\mathrm{d}x + e^{\lambda_n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v_n^2 \,\mathrm{d}x \right) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_{\varepsilon}(v) v \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\geq |(-\Delta)^{s/2} v|_2^2 + e^{\lambda} |v|_2^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_{\varepsilon}(v) v \,\mathrm{d}x, \end{split}$$

thus

$$\liminf_{n} \int_{\mathbb{D}^{N}} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} v_{n}|^{2} dx + e^{\lambda_{n}} \int_{\mathbb{D}^{N}} v_{n}^{2} dx = |(-\Delta)^{s/2} v|_{2}^{2} + e^{\lambda} |v|_{2}^{2};$$

this means that, up to a subsequence, $v_n \to v$ strongly in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

Step 7. Conclusions.

By the strong convergence, we have $I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda, v) = d_{\varepsilon,+}^m$, i.e., (λ, v) is a Pohožaev minimum in the product space. The fact that $(\mu_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon}) := (e^{\lambda}, v)$ is a solution to (5.1) follows from Proposition 1.7. Finally, assume $g|_{(-\infty,0)} = 0$ or g odd, which imply the same properties on g_{ε} . Then, in Step 1, we may assume that each v_n is Schwarz-symmetric in light of Theorem 3.6 (ii), hence so is v.

5.2 Symmetry results

Exploiting the perturbed g_{ε} , we prove here Proposition 1.12 (i)–(iii). We recall that G does not map $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ to $L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$; with the intention of gaining a symmetry result arguing as in [40, Proof of Theorem 4.1], we show the following lemma.

Lemma 5.7 Assume (g0)-(g2). For $v \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $x = (x_1, x') \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{N-1}$, define

$$v_1(x) := \begin{cases} v(x_1, x') & \text{if } x_1 < 0 \\ v(-x_1, x') & \text{if } x_1 \ge 0 \end{cases} \quad and \quad v_2(x) := \begin{cases} v(-x_1, x') & \text{if } x_1 < 0 \\ v(x_1, x') & \text{if } x_1 \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

Then $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(v_1) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(v_2) dx = 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G(v) dx$.

Proof. It is clear that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_+(v_1) dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_+(v_2) dx = 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_+(v) dx$. Additionally, from the monotone convergence theorem,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-(v_1) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-(v_2) \, \mathrm{d}x = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-^{\varepsilon}(v_1) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-^{\varepsilon}(v_2) \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= 2 \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-^{\varepsilon}(v) \, \mathrm{d}x = 2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-(v) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

whence the statement.

Proof of Proposition 1.12 (i)-(iii).

- (i) Let $(\mu, u) \in \mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}$ be a minimizer as in the statement. In view of Remark 4.1 and Lemma 3.3, u solves the minimization problem (3.4). Then, exploiting Lemma 5.7, we can argue in a similar way to [40, Proof of Theorem 4.1]⁵. Likewise if u minimizes K over \mathcal{S}_m .
- (ii) Let $(\mu, u) \in \mathcal{P}_{(\rho)}$ be a minimizer as in the statement, and let us denote by u^* the Schwarz rearrangement of u. We first observe that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_{-}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_{-}(u^*) \, \mathrm{d}x; \tag{5.19}$$

indeed, (5.19) holds with G_{-}^{ε} instead of G_{-} (see [14, Proposition B.1]), thus from the monotone convergence theorem

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-(u) \, \mathrm{d}x = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-^{\varepsilon}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-^{\varepsilon}(u^*) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-(u^*) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

and we get the claim. Now, assume by contradiction that u does not equal its Schwarz rearrangement $u^* \neq 0$. Then, from [14, Propositions B.1 and B.3],

$$|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u^*|_2^2 < |(-\Delta)^{s/2}u|_2^2$$
 and $|u^*|_2 = |u|_2$,

⁵ We observe that we formally deal with Case A therein but minimize over $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

which imply

$$J_{\mu}(u^*) < J_{\mu}(u)$$
 and $P_{\mu}(u^*) < P_{\mu}(u) = 0$.

From Remark 3.2, we find $t^* > 0$ such that $P_{\mu}(u^*(\cdot/t^*)) = 0$ and

$$\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu} \le J_{\mu} \left(u^*(\cdot/t^*) \right) \le J_{\mu}(u^*) < J_{\mu}(u) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu},$$

a contradiction. Similarly for L^2 -minima.

(iii) We claim that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |g_-(u)u^-| dx < +\infty$, where, we recall, $u^{\pm} = \max\{\pm u, 0\}$. As a matter of fact, since $g_-(u)u^- = g_-(-u^-)u^- \le 0$, there holds

$$|g_{-}(u)u^{-}| = -g_{-}(-u^{-})u^{-} \le g_{-}(u^{+})u^{+} - g_{-}(-u^{-})u^{-} = g_{-}(u)u^{+} - g_{-}(u)u^{-} = g_{-}(u)u \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{N}),$$

which holds by the assumptions. As a consequence, with the notation of Lemma 2.2, for every R > 0 there holds

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u \ (-\Delta)^{s/2} (\varphi_R u^-) \, \mathrm{d}x + \mu \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u \varphi_R u^- \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u) \varphi_R u^- \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

and passing to the limit we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^s u \ (-\Delta)^s u^- \, \mathrm{d}x + \mu \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u u^- \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u) u^- \, \mathrm{d}x. \tag{5.20}$$

Finally, using (5.20) and Lemma 2.1,

$$0 \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \left(g(-u^-) - \mu(-u^-) \right) u^- \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u) u^- - \mu u u^- \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u (-\Delta)^{s/2} u^- \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\le -|(-\Delta)^{s/2} u^-|_2^2 \le 0,$$

and we conclude.

6 The sublinear problem

6.1 ε -independent estimates

Let $\mu_{\varepsilon} = e^{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}$, u_{ε} , m_{ε} , and $d_{\varepsilon,+}^m$ be the quantities found in Theorem 5.2 and m_0 be as in (5.12). From now on, we are interested in the dependence on ε ; in particular, we will ensure that some objects related to problem (5.1) enjoy some uniformity in $\varepsilon > 0$. We start by showing that $(d_{\varepsilon,+}^m)_{\varepsilon \in (0,1]}$ is bounded and far from zero.

Lemma 6.1 Let $m > m_0$. There exist $\zeta_m, \beta_m \in \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$-\infty < \zeta_m \le d_{\varepsilon,+}^m \le \beta_m < 0$$
 for every $\varepsilon \in (0,1]$.

Proof. By Lemma 5.6 and the monotonicity of $\varepsilon \mapsto a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)$ and $\varepsilon \mapsto \overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon}$ – cf. (5.9) and (5.10), we have $d_{\varepsilon,+}^m = b_{\varepsilon}^m \geq b_1^m =: \zeta_m$. Again by Lemma 5.6 we have, for every $\lambda < \overline{\lambda}_0 \leq \overline{\lambda}_{\varepsilon}$,

$$d_{\varepsilon,+}^m \le \frac{e^{\lambda}}{2} \left(\frac{a_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)}{e^{\lambda}/2} - m \right) \le \frac{e^{\lambda}}{2} \left(\frac{a(\lambda)}{e^{\lambda}/2} - m \right).$$

Let now $\delta := \frac{m-m_0}{2} > 0$. By the definition of infimum $m_0 = \inf_{\lambda < \overline{\lambda}_0} \frac{a(\lambda)}{e^{\lambda}/2}$ there exists $\lambda_{\delta} < \overline{\lambda}_0$ such that

$$d_{\varepsilon,+}^m \leq \frac{e^{\lambda_\delta}}{2} \left(\frac{a(\lambda_\delta)}{e^{\lambda_\delta}/2} - m \right) \leq \frac{e^{\lambda_\delta}}{2} \left(m_0 + \delta - m \right) = -\frac{e^{\lambda_\delta}}{4} (m - m_0) =: \beta_m < 0.$$

We show now some estimates on the solutions $(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$. Here we use the L^2 -subcritical growth (g3).

Lemma 6.2 Let $m > m_0$. Then $(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1]}$ is bounded in $\mathbb{R} \times H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

Proof. Observe first that, since $(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ satisfies the Pohožaev identity and by Lemma 6.1, we have

$$\frac{m}{2}e^{\lambda_{\varepsilon}} = \frac{1}{2_{s}^{*}}P_{\varepsilon}(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon}) - I_{\varepsilon}^{m}(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{s}{N}|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{2} \ge -d_{\varepsilon,+}^{m} \ge -\beta_{m}$$

which gives a bound below on $(\lambda_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1]}$. Next, from (g0), (g1), and (g3), in a similar way to (5.15), for every $\delta > 0$ there exists $c_{\delta} > 0$ such that for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$

$$g_+(t)t \le c_{\delta}t^2 + \delta|t|^{\bar{p}+1}.$$

Then, from (2.2) and the fact that $(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ is a critical point of I_{ε}^{m} , we have

$$0 = |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{2} + e^{\lambda_{\varepsilon}} |u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{2} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} g_{-}^{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) u_{\varepsilon} \, \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} g_{+}(u_{\varepsilon}) u_{\varepsilon} \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$\geq |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{2} + \left(e^{\lambda_{\varepsilon}} - c_{\delta}\right) |u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{2} + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} g_{-}^{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) u_{\varepsilon} \, \mathrm{d}x - \delta |u_{\varepsilon}|_{\bar{p}+1}^{\bar{p}+1}$$

$$\geq |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{2} + \left(e^{\lambda_{\varepsilon}} - c_{\delta}\right) |u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{2} - \delta C_{\mathrm{GN}} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{2} |u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{4s/N}$$

$$= \left(1 - \delta C_{\mathrm{GN}} m^{2s/N}\right) |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{2} + \left(e^{\lambda_{\varepsilon}} - c_{\delta}\right) m,$$

and we conclude by taking $\delta < (C_{\rm GN} m^{2s/N})^{-1}$.

6.2 Passage to the limit

We want to pass to the limit with the solutions $(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ found in Theorem 5.2. Recall that, by Lemma 6.1 and Proposition 1.5, we have

$$-\infty < \zeta_m \le d_{\varepsilon,+}^m = I_{\varepsilon}^m(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon}) = \kappa_{\varepsilon}^m = \ell_m^{\varepsilon} = K_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) \le \beta_m < 0;$$

moreover, by Lemma 6.2, $(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})_{\varepsilon \in (0,1]}$ is bounded in $\mathbb{R} \times H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Therefore, up to a subsequence,

$$\begin{cases} u_{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup u_0 & \text{in } H^s_{\text{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N), \\ \lambda_{\varepsilon} \to \lambda_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}. \end{cases}$$
 (6.1)

In addition, we have

$$|u_0|_2^2 \le m$$

by the weak convergence. We write $\mu_{\varepsilon} := e^{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}$, $\mu_0 := e^{\lambda_0}$.

We want to show that $(\mu_0, u_0) \in (0, +\infty) \times H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ is the desired solution of Theorem 1.1. To this aim, the first step is to prove the pointwise convergence of $G_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon})$ to $G(u_0)$.

Lemma 6.3 Let $u_0 \in H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as in (6.1). Then, $g_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}(x)) \to g(u_0(x))$ and $G_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}(x)) \to G(u_0(x))$ as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$ for a.e. $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$.

Proof of Lemma 6.3. Let $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$ such that $u_{\varepsilon}(x) \to u_0(x) \in \mathbb{R}$. We prove first the claim on g_{ε} . We write

$$(0,1] = \{ \varepsilon \in (0,1] \mid |u_{\varepsilon}(x)| > \varepsilon \} \cup \{ \varepsilon \in (0,1] \mid |u_{\varepsilon}(x)| \leq \varepsilon \} =: I_1^x \cup I_2^x.$$

Clearly, $0 \in \overline{I_1^x} \cup \overline{I_2^x}$. If $0 \in \overline{I_1^x}$ then, observed that $g_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}(x)) = g(u_{\varepsilon}(x))$ for every $\varepsilon \in I_1^x$, we get

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+, \ \varepsilon \in I_1^x} g_\varepsilon(u_\varepsilon(x)) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+, \ \varepsilon \in I_1^x} g(u_\varepsilon(x)) = g(u_0(x)).$$

If $0 \in \overline{I_2^x}$, let $\delta > 0$. By the assumptions, we know that there exists $\omega_{\delta} > 0$ such that $|g(t)| \leq \delta$ for every $|t| \leq \omega_{\delta}$. Observed that

$$|g_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}(x))| \leq |g_{+}(u_{\varepsilon}(x))| + |g_{-}^{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}(x))| \leq |g_{+}(u_{\varepsilon}(x))| + |g_{-}(u_{\varepsilon}(x))|$$
$$= |g^{+}(u_{\varepsilon}(x)) + g^{-}(u_{\varepsilon}(x))| = |g(u_{\varepsilon}(x))| \leq \delta$$

for every $\varepsilon \in I_2^x \cap (0, \omega_{\delta}]$, we obtain

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0^+, \ \varepsilon \in I_2^x} |g_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}(x))| \le \delta;$$

by the arbitrariness of δ , we achieve

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+, \ \varepsilon \in I_2^x} g_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}(x)) = 0;$$

on the other hand, by definition of I_2^x , we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+,\; \varepsilon \in I_2^x} |u_\varepsilon(x)| \leq \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+,\; \varepsilon \in I_2^x} \varepsilon = 0$$

and thus $u_0(x) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+, \ \varepsilon \in I_2^x} u_{\varepsilon}(x) = 0$; since $g(u_0(x)) = g(0) = 0$, we have reached

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+, \ \varepsilon \in I_2^x} g_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}(x)) = g(u_0(x)),$$

which is the claim. We prove now the claim on G_{ε} . Obviously, $G_{+}(u_{\varepsilon}(x)) \to G_{+}(u_{0}(x))$; noticed that, in a similar way as before, we can show $g_{-}^{\varepsilon}(u_{0}(x)t) \to g_{-}^{\varepsilon}(u_{0}(x)t)$ for each $t \in [0,1]$, and observed that

$$|g_{-}^{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}(x)t)| \le |g_{-}(u_{\varepsilon}(x)t)| \le 1 + |u_{\varepsilon}(x)|^{2_{s}^{*}} \le 2 + |u_{0}(x)|^{2_{s}^{*}}$$

for $0 < \varepsilon \ll 1$ and any $t \in [0,1]$, we can use the dominated convergence theorem and obtain

$$G_{-}^{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}(x)) = u_{\varepsilon}(x) \int_{0}^{1} g_{-}^{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}(x)t) dt \to u_{0}(x) \int_{0}^{1} g_{-}(u_{0}(x)t) dt = G_{-}(u_{0}(x)).$$

We observe that the limit function obtained in (6.1), at the moment, could be trivial. In what follows, we show that this is not the case and, moreover, u_0 is a solution enjoying minimality properties.

Proposition 6.4 Let $(\mu_0, u_0) \in (0, +\infty) \times H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ as in (6.1). Then $u_0 \in \mathcal{S}_m$, $(\mu_0, u_0) \in \mathcal{P}$, it is a solution to (1.8), and

$$K(u_0) = I^m(\mu_0, u_0) = \ell^m = \kappa^m = d_+^m = d^m < 0.$$

Moreover, $u_{\varepsilon} \to u_0$ in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$, $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-^{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) dx \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-(u_0) dx < \infty$, and $d_{\varepsilon,+}^m \to d_+^m$ as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$.

Proof. We show first that u_0 minimizes K over the L^2 -ball. Since $G_{\varepsilon} \geq G$, we have

$$\ell_{\varepsilon}^{m} = \inf_{\mathcal{D}_{m}^{\mathrm{rad}}} K_{\varepsilon} \leq \inf_{\mathcal{D}_{m}^{\mathrm{rad}}} K \leq K(u_{0}).$$

On the other hand, by exploiting that $(-\Delta)^{s/2}u_{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup (-\Delta)^{s/2}u_0$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$, the strong convergence in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ of $G_+(u_{\varepsilon})$, and Fatou's lemma for $G_-^{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon})$ (here we use Lemma 6.3),

$$K(u_{0}) = \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{0}|_{2}^{2} - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G_{+}(u_{0}) \, dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G_{-}(u_{0}) \, dx$$

$$\leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} \left(\frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{2} \right) - \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G_{+}(u_{\varepsilon}) \, dx \right) + \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} G_{-}^{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) \, dx \right)$$

$$\leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} K_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) = \liminf_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} \ell_{\varepsilon}^{m} \leq \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} \ell_{\varepsilon}^{m} \leq \inf_{\mathcal{D}_{m}^{\text{rad}}} K \leq K(u_{0}).$$

This yields that u_0 is a minimum over the L^2 -ball and the following holds as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$: $\ell^m_\varepsilon \to \ell^m$, $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G^{\varepsilon}_-(u_{\varepsilon}) \, \mathrm{d}x \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} G_-(u_0) \, \mathrm{d}x < \infty$, and $(-\Delta)^{s/2} u_{\varepsilon} \to (-\Delta)^{s/2} u_0$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$. By the fact that $\ell^m_\varepsilon \le \beta_m < 0$, we obtain $K(u_0) \le \beta_m < 0$; in particular, $u_0 \ne 0$. Moreover, by Proposition 4.2 and Proposition 1.5 we know that (μ_0, u_0) is a solution of (1.1), it satisfies the Pohožaev identity, $u_0 \in \mathcal{S}_m$ (whence $I^m(\mu, u_0) = K(u_0)$), and $\kappa^m = \ell^m = d^m_+ = d^m$, thus $u_{\varepsilon} \to u_0$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and hence in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$.

To show the Nehari identity, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 6.5 The solution u_0 given in (6.1) satisfies $\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_-(u_0)u_0 dx < \infty$.

Proof. Let us recall that, as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$, $\mu_{\varepsilon} \to \mu_0$, $u_{\varepsilon} \to u_0$ in $H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and a.e. in \mathbb{R}^N , and $g_{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) \to g(u_0)$ a.e. in \mathbb{R}^N . Additionally, $(\mu_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon})$ satisfies the Nehari identity

$$|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u_{\varepsilon}|_{2}^{2} + \mu_{\varepsilon}|u_{0}|_{2}^{2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} g_{+}(u_{\varepsilon}) - g_{-}^{\varepsilon}(u_{\varepsilon}) dx.$$

Since $g_{-}(t)t \geq 0$ and $\varphi_{\varepsilon}(t) \geq 0$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, we also have that $g_{-}^{\varepsilon}(t)t \geq 0$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$, hence u_0 satisfies the following "Nehari inequality"

$$|(-\Delta)^{s/2}u_0|_2^2 + \mu_0|u_0|_2^2 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_-(u_0)u_0 \, \mathrm{d}x \le \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} |(-\Delta)^{s/2}u_\varepsilon|_2^2 + \mu_\varepsilon|u_\varepsilon|_2^2 + \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_-^\varepsilon(u_\varepsilon)u_\varepsilon \, \mathrm{d}x$$

$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_+(u_\varepsilon)u_\varepsilon \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g_+(u_0)u_0 \, \mathrm{d}x$$

thanks to (g1), (g3), and Fatou's lemma. In particular, this gives the claim.

Proof of Theorem 1.1. The theorem is a consequence of Lemma 6.5, Proposition 4.3, Proposition 6.4, Proposition 1.6 and Proposition 1.10.

Proof of Proposition 1.12 (iv). From Theorem 5.2, for every $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$ there exists $(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon}) \in \mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon,+}$ Schwarz-symmetric such that $I_{\varepsilon}^{m}(\lambda_{\varepsilon}, u_{\varepsilon}) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon,+}} I_{\varepsilon}^{m} = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\varepsilon,+}^{rad}} I_{\varepsilon}^{m}$. Then, repeating all the steps in Section 6, not only do we re-obtain Theorem 1.1, but we also get the same outcome where κ^{m} , ℓ^{m} , $a(\mu)$, and d^{m} are replaced, respectively, with $\inf_{\mathcal{S}_{m}} K$, $\inf_{\mathcal{D}_{m}} K$, $\inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu}$, and $\inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^{m}$, but the pair (μ_{0}, u_{0}) is the same in both cases. In particular, $\kappa^{m} = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_{m}} K$, $\ell^{m} = \inf_{\mathcal{D}_{m}} K$, $a(\mu) = \inf_{\mathcal{P}_{\mu}} J_{\mu}$, and $d^{m} = \inf_{\mathcal{P}} I^{m}$.

7 Further existence results

7.1 Existence for all masses

In Theorem 1.1, we obtained the existence of a solution for large masses. When we rule out the possibility of g to be superlinear at the origin (or positive nearby), which clearly mimics the logarithmic case, we can achieve existence also for all masses. Obviously, we already have existence for all masses if $m_0 = 0$, which is why we assume $m_0 > 0$ in Theorem 7.2 below.

Lemma 7.1 Under assumptions (g0)-(g4), for every $\omega \geq 0$ there exists $\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega} \in (0, +\infty)$ such that

$$\inf_{0 < \mu < \overline{\mu}_0} \frac{a(\mu)}{\mu + \omega'} = \inf_{0 < \mu < \widetilde{\mu}_\omega} \frac{a(\mu)}{\mu + \omega'}$$

$$(7.1)$$

for every $\omega' \in [0, \omega]$. In particular, $m_0 = \inf_{0 < \mu < \widetilde{\mu}_0} \frac{a(\mu)}{\mu/2}$. Moreover,

$$\frac{\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega}}{\omega} \to 0 \quad as \ \omega \to +\infty.$$

Proof. If $\overline{\mu}_0 < +\infty$, we take $\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega} := \overline{\mu}_0$. Otherwise, we set $M := \inf_{\mu \in (0,+\infty)} \frac{a(\mu)}{\mu}$ and

$$\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega} := \inf \left\{ \widetilde{\mu} > 0 \mid \frac{a(\mu)}{\mu + \omega} \ge M + 1 \text{ for each } \mu \ge \widetilde{\mu} \right\}.$$

We observe that $\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega} < +\infty$ from Lemma 5.6, while $\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega} > 0$ from its definition and that of M. Additionally, from the continuity of $a: (0, +\infty) \to [0, +\infty)$ (see Proposition 3.4), we have

$$\frac{a(\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega})}{\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega} + \omega} = M + 1. \tag{7.2}$$

Consequently, if $\nu \geq \widetilde{\mu}_{\omega}$ and $\omega' \in [0, \omega]$, then

$$\frac{a(\nu)}{\nu + \omega'} \ge M + 1 > \inf_{0 < \mu < +\infty} \frac{a(\mu)}{\mu + \omega'},$$

whence (7.1). We move to the last claim; we can assume $\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega} \to +\infty$ as $\omega \to +\infty$ (otherwise, the claim is obvious). Since (7.2) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{\omega}{\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega}} = \frac{1}{M+1} \frac{a(\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega})}{\widetilde{\mu}_{\omega}} - 1,$$

the claim follows from Lemma 5.6.

Theorem 7.2 Assume (g0)-(g4), $m_0 > 0$, and

$$\limsup_{t \to 0} \frac{g(t)}{t} =: -\overline{\omega} \in [-\infty, 0).$$

Then, there exists $m_1 = m_1(\overline{\omega}) \in [0, m_0)$ such that, for every $m > m_1$, there exists a solution $(\mu_0, u_0) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{rad}}$ to (1.8), which satisfies the Nehari and Pohožaev identities, and such that

$$I^{m}(\mu, u_{0}) = K(u_{0}) = a(\mu_{0}) - \frac{\mu_{0}}{2}m = \kappa^{m} = d^{m} = \inf_{-\infty < \nu < \overline{\mu}_{0}} \left(a(\nu) - \frac{\nu}{2}m \right);$$

if $\kappa^m \leq 0$ then $\mu_0 > 0$. Finally, if $\overline{\omega} = \infty$, then $m_1 = 0$.

Proof. Let $\omega \in (0, \overline{\omega})$ and define, for $t \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$h_{\omega}(t) := g(t) + \omega t, \quad H_{\omega}(t) := G(t) + \frac{\omega}{2}t^2.$$

We observe that

- h_{ω} is continuous and $h_{\omega}(0) = 0$,
- $\limsup_{|t|\to+\infty} \frac{|h_{\omega}(t)|}{|t|^{2_s^*-1}} < \infty$,
- there exists $t_0 \neq 0$ such that $H_{\omega}(t_0) > 0$.

Moreover, it is straightforward to check that $\limsup_{t\to 0} \frac{h_{\omega}(t)}{t} < 0$ and $\limsup_{|t|\to +\infty} \frac{h_{\omega}(t)}{|t|^{\overline{p}-1}t} \leq 0$, thus h_{ω} satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 1.1. In particular, for

$$m > m_{\omega} := \inf_{0 < \mu < \overline{\mu}_{\omega}} \frac{a_{\omega}(\mu)}{\mu/2}$$

there exists an L^2 -minimum $u_{\omega} \in \mathcal{S}_m^{\mathrm{rad}}$ with Lagrange multiplier $\mu_{\omega} > 0$, i.e.,

$$K_{\omega}(u_{\omega}) = \inf_{\mathcal{D}_{rad}} K_{\omega} = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_{rad}} K_{\omega} =: \kappa_{\omega}^{m} < 0; \tag{7.3}$$

here

$$\overline{\mu}_{\omega} := \sup_{t \neq 0} \frac{H_{\omega}(t)}{t^2/2} = \overline{\mu}_0 + \omega, \quad K_{\omega}(u) := \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_2^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H_{\omega}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x,
a_{\omega}(\mu) := \inf_{\mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}}_{\mu,\omega}} J_{\mu,\omega}, \quad J_{\mu,\omega}(u) := \frac{1}{2} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|_2^2 + \frac{\mu}{2} |u|_2^2 - \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} H_{\omega}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x,
P_{\mu,\omega}(u) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |(-\Delta)^{s/2} u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x + 2_s^* \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{\mu}{2} u^2 - H_{\omega}(u) \, \mathrm{d}x,
\mathcal{P}_{\mu,\omega} := \left\{ u \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \setminus \{0\} \mid P_{\mu,\omega}(u) = 0 \right\}, \quad \mathcal{P}^{\mathrm{rad}}_{\mu,\omega} := \mathcal{P}_{\mu,\omega} \cap H^s_{\mathrm{rad}}(\mathbb{R}^N).$$

We notice that $(\mu_{\omega}, u_{\omega})$ satisfies the Nehari and Pohožaev identities with respect to H_{ω} . Since $K_{\omega}(u) = K(u) - \frac{\omega}{2} |u|_2^2$, we obtain

$$K(u_{\omega}) - \frac{\omega}{2}m = K(u_{\omega}) - \frac{\omega}{2}|u_{\omega}|_{2}^{2} = K_{\omega}(u_{\omega}) = \inf_{\mathcal{S}_{m}^{\text{rad}}} K_{\omega} = \kappa^{m} - \frac{\omega}{2}m,$$

whence $K(u_{\omega}) = \kappa^m$, which means that u_{ω} is an L^2 -minimum for the original problem. Moreover,

$$\kappa^m = \kappa_\omega^m + \frac{\omega}{2}m. \tag{7.4}$$

In addition, u_{ω} is a solution to the Euler-Lagrange equation corresponding to K_{ω} , i.e., for some Lagrange multiplier $\mu_{\omega} > 0$,

$$(-\Delta)^{s/2}u_{\omega} + \mu_{\omega}u_{\omega} = h_{\omega}(u_{\omega}) \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N,$$

which means that $u_0 := u_\omega$ is a solution to (1.8) with Lagrange multiplier

$$\mu_0 := \mu_\omega - \omega \tag{7.5}$$

and (μ_0, u_0) satisfies the Nehari and Pohožaev identities with respect to G. Additionally, for any $\nu > \omega$, we have $J_{\nu,\omega}(u) = J_{\nu-\omega}(u)$ and $P_{\nu,\omega}(u) = P_{\nu-\omega}(u)$, therefore

$$\frac{1}{2}m_{\omega} \le \inf_{\omega < \nu < \overline{\mu}_0 + \omega} \frac{a_{\omega}(\nu)}{\nu} = \inf_{0 < \nu - \omega < \overline{\mu}_0} \frac{a(\nu - \omega)}{\nu} = \inf_{0 < \nu < \overline{\mu}_0} \frac{a(\nu)}{\nu + \omega} = \inf_{0 < \nu < \overline{\mu}_0} \frac{a(\nu)}{\nu + \omega} = \inf_{0 < \nu < \overline{\mu}_0} \frac{a(\nu)}{\nu} \frac{\nu}{\nu + \omega}. \tag{7.6}$$

Let $\widetilde{\mu} = \widetilde{\mu}_{\omega} \in (0, +\infty)$ be the value given in Lemma 7.1. Since the function $\nu \in (0, +\infty) \mapsto \frac{\nu}{\nu + \omega} \in (0, +\infty)$ is increasing, from (7.6) we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}m_{\omega} \leq \inf_{0 < \nu < \widetilde{\mu}} \frac{a(\nu)}{\nu} \frac{\nu}{\nu + \omega} \leq \frac{\widetilde{\mu}}{\widetilde{\mu} + \omega} \inf_{0 < \nu < \widetilde{\mu}} \frac{a(\nu)}{\nu} = \frac{\widetilde{\mu}}{\widetilde{\mu} + \omega} \inf_{0 < \nu < \overline{\mu}_0} \frac{a(\nu)}{\nu} = \frac{\widetilde{\mu}}{\widetilde{\mu} + \omega} \frac{m_0}{2} < \frac{1}{2}m_0.$$

In addition, if $\overline{\omega} = \infty$, taking ω arbitrarily large we obtain

$$m_{\omega} \to 0$$
 as $\omega \to +\infty$

again from Lemma 7.1. As a consequence, for any m > 0, there exists $m_{\omega} \in [0, m)$ and thus an L^2 -minimum u_{ω} . We conclude setting

$$m_1 := \inf_{0 < \omega < \overline{\omega}} m_\omega;$$

noticed that $\omega \mapsto m_{\omega}$ is nonincreasing (this is a direct consequence of $J_{\mu,\omega} \leq J_{\mu}$, $P_{\mu,\omega} \leq P_{\mu}$, $\mu_{\omega} \geq \mu_{0}$, and an argument similar to (5.9)–(5.13)), we further observe that $m_{1} = \lim_{\omega \to \overline{\omega}^{-}} m_{\omega}$. The sign of μ_{0} is a simple consequence of the Pohožaev identity. Finally, the fact that

$$K(u_0) = I^m(\mu_0, u_0) = d^m = \inf_{-\infty < \nu < \overline{\mu}_0} \left(a(\nu) - \frac{\nu}{2} m \right) = a(\mu_0) - \frac{\mu_0}{2} m$$

follows from Propositions 1.5, 1.6, and 1.10.

Remark 7.3 By definition, m_1 is nonincreasing with respect to $\overline{\omega}$. Moreover, in the case of small masses, Theorem 7.2 gives no information on the sign of the Lagrange multiplier and of the minimal energy – see indeed (7.4) and (7.5).

Proof of Theorem 1.3. It is a consequence of Theorem 7.2.

7.2 Existence under relaxed assumptions

We deal now with Proposition 1.14. We thus search for a normalized solution which is nonnegative, possibly considering also the case

$$\lim_{|t| \to +\infty} \frac{g_{-}(t)}{|t|^{2_s^* - 1}} = +\infty.$$

The idea is to modify the nonlinearity g. We begin with the following result.

Lemma 7.4 Let (g0)–(g2) hold. Assume g(t) = 0 for $|t| \ge t_1$, and let u be a nonnegative solution of (1.1) for some $\mu \ge 0$. Then $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and $|u|_{\infty} \le t_1$.

Proof. Let $v := (u - t_1)^+$. It is easy to check, via explicit computations, that $v \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Let φ_R be as in Lemma 2.2 and set $v_R := v\varphi_R$. Then $v_R \in H^s(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ and hence

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u (-\Delta)^{s/2} v_R \, \mathrm{d}x + \frac{\mu}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} u v_R \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} g(u) v_R \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

We notice that $g(u)v_R \equiv 0$ by the assumptions. Since $u \geq 0$ and $\mu \geq 0$, we have $\mu uv_R \geq 0$ and thus

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u (-\Delta)^{s/2} v_R \, \mathrm{d}x \le 0.$$

By Lemma 2.2 we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u (-\Delta)^{s/2} (u - t_1)^+ \, \mathrm{d}x \le 0.$$

On the other hand,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (-\Delta)^{s/2} u(-\Delta)^{s/2} (u - t_{1})^{+} dx$$

$$= C_{N,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\left((u(x) - t_{1}) - (u(y) - t_{1}) \right) \left((u(x) - t_{1})^{+} - (u(y) - t_{1})^{+} \right)}{|x - y|^{N+2s}}$$

$$\geq C_{N,s} \int_{\{u(x) \geq t_{1}\}} \int_{\{u(y) \geq t_{1}\}} \frac{\left| (u(x) - t_{1})^{+} - (u(y) - t_{1})^{+} \right|^{2}}{|x - y|^{N+2s}}$$

$$= C_{N,s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \frac{\left| (u(x) - t_{1})^{+} - (u(y) - t_{1})^{+} \right|^{2}}{|x - y|^{N+2s}} = |(-\Delta)^{s/2} (u - t_{1})^{+}|_{2}^{2}.$$

Joining the two relations found we obtain $(u - t_1)^+ = 0$, i.e., $u \le t_1$. Finally, using $v_R := (u + t_1)^- \varphi_R$ and g(t) = 0 for $t \le -t_1$, we similarly obtain $u \ge -t_1$.

Proof of Proposition 1.14. Let us assume that t_0 , defined in (g4), is positive (if it is negative, then we argue likewise). This implies that g is positive somewhere on $(0, +\infty)$. Let t_1 be the first positive zero of g such that g is positive somewhere on $(0, t_1)$ (if g(t) > 0 for all t > 0, we set $t_1 = +\infty$). Then, we set

$$\bar{g}(t) := g(t)\chi_{(0,t_1)}(t).$$

Clearly, \bar{g} satisfies (g0)-(g4), thus Proposition 1.12 applies (or Remark 1.13 if (1.21) holds), and we have a Schwarz-symmetric solution (μ_0, u_0), which satisfies the Nehari and Pohožaev identities, to

$$(-\Delta)^s u + \mu u = \bar{q}(u).$$

If $t_1 = +\infty$, then $\bar{g}(u_0) = g(u_0)$, so (μ_0, u_0) is a solution to (1.8); otherwise, from Lemma 7.4, $|u_0|_{\infty} \leq t_1$, hence $\bar{g}(u_0) = g(u_0)$ once again, and we conclude as before.

We end this section with the examples mentioned in the introduction.

Proof of Corollary 1.15. As in [45, Proof of Theorem 1.6], we prove that when $\beta < 0$ and $q \in (1, 2_s^* - 1]$, $\max G \leq 0$ if and only if $\beta \leq -\frac{\alpha(q+1)}{q-1}e^{-(q+1)/2}$, hence the second part (existence) follows from Theorem 1.3 and Proposition 1.12 (iv) (see also Remark 1.13). If $m > m_0$, then the claim follows by Theorem 1.1. The first part (nonexistence) is a direct consequence of the Pohožaev identity, together with Proposition 1.8.

Proof of Corollary 1.16. We argue as in Corollary 1.15.

Acknowledgments. This work was supported by the Thematic Research Programme "Variational and geometrical methods in partial differential equations", University of Warsaw, Excellence Initiative - Research University. The first author is supported by INdAM-GNAMPA Project "Metodi variazionali per problemi dipendenti da operatori frazionari isotropi e anisotropi", codice CUP #E5324001950001#. The second author is supported by INdAM-GNAMPA Project "Problemi di ottimizzazione in PDEs da modelli biologici", codice CUP #E5324001950001#. The first author expresses his gratitude to the University of Warsaw for hosting him in November 2024 and February 2025.

References

- [1] C. O. Alves, C. Ji, Multiple positive solutions for a Schrödinger logarithmic equation, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 40(5) (2020), 2671–2685.
- [2] C. O. Alves, C. Ji, Multiple normalized solutions to a logarithmic Schrödinger equation via Lusternik-Schnirelmann category, J. Geom. Anal. 34(198) (2024), pp. 29. 4
- [3] V. Ambrosio, Nonlinear Fractional Schrödinger Equations in \mathbb{R}^N , Frontiers in Elliptic and Parabolic Problems, Birkhäuser, Switzerland, 2021. 14
- [4] A. H. Ardila, Existence and stability of standing waves for nonlinear fractional Schrödinger equation with logarithmic nonlinearity, Nonlinearity 155 (2017), 52–64. 4
- [5] A. Bahrouni, H. Ounaies, V. D. Radulescu, Infinitely many solutions for a class of sublinear Schrödinger equations with indefinite potentials, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A 145(3) (2015), 445–465. 3
- [6] M. Benrhouma, H. Ounaies, Existence and uniqueness of positive solution for nonhomogeneous sublinear elliptic equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 358(2) (2009), 307–319.
- [7] H. Berestycki, T. Gallouët, O. Kavian, Équations de champs scalaires euclidiens non linéaires dans le plan, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Ser. I Math. 297(5) (1983), 307–310. 12
- [8] H. Berestycki, P.-L. Lions, Nonlinear scalar field equations I: existence of a ground state, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 82(4) (1983), 313–345. 2, 3, 12, 16, 24
- [9] I. Bialynicki-Birula, J. Mycielski, Nonlinear wave mechanics, Ann. Physics **100**(1-2) (1976), 62–93. 3, 4
- [10] I. Bialynicki-Birula, J. Mycielski, Gaussons: solitons of the logarithmic Schrödinger equation, Physica Scripta. 20(3-4) (1979), 539–544. 3, 4
- [11] B. Bieganowski, J. Mederski, Normalized ground states of the nonlinear Schrödinger equation with at least mass critical growth, J. Funct. Anal. 280(11) (2021), article ID 108989, pp. 26. 7
- [12] P. Blanchard, J. Stubbe, L. Vázquez, On the stability of solitary waves for classical scalar fields, Annales de l'I.H.P., Sec. A (Physique théorique), 47(3) (1987), 309–336. 3
- [13] J. Byeon, L. Jeanjean, M. Mariş, Symmetry and monotonicity of least energy solutions, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 36(4) (2009), 481–492. 17
- [14] J. Byeon, O. Kwon, J. Seok, Nonlinear scalar field equations involving the fractional Laplacian, Nonlinearity 30(4) (2017), 1659–1681. 5, 8, 20, 22, 26, 30
- [15] R. Carles, Logarithmic Schrödinger equation and isothermal fluids, EMS Surv. Math. Sci. 9(1) (2022), 99–134. 3
- [16] T. Cazenave, Stable solutions of the logarithmic Schrödinger equation, Nonlinear Anal. 7(10) (1983), 1127–1140. 3, 4
- [17] M. Chatzakou, M. Ruzhansky, Revised logarithmic Sobolev inequalities of fractional order, Bull. Sci. Math. 197 (2024), article ID 103530, pp. 9. 4

- [18] X. Chang, Z.-Q. Wang, Ground state of scalar field equations involving a fractional Laplacian with general nonlinearity, Nonlinearity 26(2) (2013), 479-494. 5, 8, 24
- [19] S. Cingolani, M. Gallo, N. Ikoma, K. Tanaka, Normalized solutions for nonlinear Schrödinger equations with L² critical nonlinearity, arXiv:2410.23733 (2025), pp. 60. 9
- [20] S. Cingolani, M. Gallo, K. Tanaka, Normalized solutions for fractional nonlinear scalar field equations via Lagrangian formulation, Nonlinearity 34(6) (2021), 4017–4056. 6, 8, 9, 12, 16, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28
- [21] S. Cingolani, M. Gallo, K. Tanaka, Infinitely many free or prescribed mass solutions for fractional Hartree equations and Pohozaev identities, Adv. Nonlinear Stud. 24(2) (2024), 303–334.5
- [22] S. Cingolani, T. Weth, On the planar Schrödinger-Poisson system, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire 33(1) (2016), 169-197.
- [23] A. Cotsiolis, N. K. Tavoularis, On logarithmic Sobolev inequalities for higher order fractional derivatives, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, Ser. I 340(3) (2005), 205–208. 4
- [24] P. d'Avenia, E. Montefusco, M. Squassina, On the logarithmic Schrödinger equation, Commun. Contemp. Math. 6(2) (2014), article ID 1350032, pp. 15. 3
- [25] P. d'Avenia, M. Squassina, M. Zenari, Fractional logarithmic Schrödinger equations, Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 38(18) (2014), 5207–5216. 4
- [26] M. Degiovanni, S. Zani, Euler equations involving nonlinearities without growth conditions, Potential Anal. 5(5) (1996), 505-512. 3
- [27] V. D. Dinh, B. Feng, On fractional nonlinear Schrödinger equation with combined powertype nonlinearities, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 39(8) (2019), 4565–4612. 3
- [28] S. Dovetta, E. Serra, P. Tilli, Action versus energy ground states in nonlinear Schrödinger equations, Math. Ann. 385(6) (2022), 1545–1576. 7
- [29] H. N. Fan, B. L. Zhang, Fractional Schrödinger equations with logarithmic and critical non-linearities, Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.) 39(2) (2023), 285–325.
- [30] M. Gallo, Nonlocal elliptic PDEs with general nonlinearities, Ph.D. thesis, Università degli Studi di Bari Aldo Moro (2023), bdim.eu. 7, 14, 24, 25
- [31] M. Gallo, S. Mosconi, M. Squassina, Power law convergence and concavity for the Logarithmic Schrödinger equation, arXiv:2411.01614 (2024), pp. 53. 3
- [32] L. Gross, Logarithmic Sobolev inequalities, Amer. J. Math. 97(4) (1975), 1061–1083. 4
- [33] P. Guerrero, J. L. López, J. Nieto, Global H¹ solvability of the 3D logarithmic Schrödinger equation, Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl. 11(1) (2010), 79–87.
- [34] J. Hirata, K. Tanaka, Nonlinear scalar field equations with L² constraint: mountain pass and symmetric mountain pass approaches, Adv. Nonlinear Stud. 19(2) (2019), 263–290. 6, 7, 8
- [35] N. Ikoma, Multiplicity of radial and nonradial solutions to equations with fractional operators, Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 19(7) (2020), 3501–3530. 4

- [36] L. Jeanjean, S.-S. Lu, On global minimizers for a mass constrained problem, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 61(6) (2022), paper no. 214, pp. 18. 10
- [37] C. Ji, Y. Xue, Existence and concentration of positive solution for a fractional logarithmic Schrödinger equation, Differential Integral Equations 35(11-12) (2022), 677-704. 4
- [38] X. Lin, S. Zheng, On the number of normalized solutions for a fractional Schrödinger problem with logarithmic nonlinearity, Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul. 143 (2025), article ID 108618, pp. 18. 4
- [39] Z. Liu, V. D. Rădulescu, C. Tang, J. Zhang, Another look at planar Schrödinger-Newton systems, J. Differential Equations 328(4) (2022), 65–104. 3
- [40] O. Lopes, M. Mariş, Symmetry of minimizers for some nonlocal variational problems, J. Funct. Anal. **254**(2) (2008), 535–592. 30
- [41] P. Luo, Y. Niu, Positive multi-peak solutions for a logarithmic Schrodinger equation, arXiv:1908.02970 (2019), pp. 29. 3
- [42] H. Luo, Z. Zhang, Normalized solutions to the fractional Schrodinger equations with combined nonlinearities, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 59(4) (2020), paper no. 143, pp. 35. 3, 9
- [43] Y.-C. Lv, G.-D. Li, Multiplicity of normalized solutions to a fractional logarithmic Schrödinger equation, Fractal Fract. 8 (2024), no. 7, 391. 4
- [44] J. Mederski, General class of optimal Sobolev inequalities and nonlinear scalar field equations, J. Differential Equations 281(2) (2021), 411-441. 3, 4
- [45] J. Mederski, J. Schino, Normalized solutions to Schrödinger equations in the strongly sublinear regime, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 63(5) (2024), article no. 137, pp. 20. 4, 8, 12, 38
- [46] Y. J. Park, Fractional Polya-Szegö inequality, J. Chungcheong Math. Soc. 24(2) (2011), 267–271. 19
- [47] Y. J. Park, Fractional Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality, J. Chungcheong Math. Soc. 24(3) (2011), 583–586. 14
- [48] G. Rosen, Dilatation covariance and exact solutions in local relativistic field theories, Phys. Rev. 183(5) (1969), 1186–1188. 4
- [49] J. Schino, Normalized ground states to a cooperative system of Schrödinger equations with generic L²-subcritical or L²-critical nonlinearity, Adv. Differential Equations 27(7-8) (2022), 467–496. 7
- [50] W. Shuai, Multiple solutions for logarithmic Schrödinger equations, Nonlinearity **32**(6) (2019), 2201–2225. 3
- [51] W. Shuai, X. Yang, Normalized solutions for logarithmic Schrödinger equation with a perturbation of power law nonlinearity, arXiv:2304.08237 (2023), pp. 33. 4
- [52] N. Soave, Normalized ground states for the NLS equation with combined nonlinearities, J. Funct. Anal. 269 (2020), no. 9, 6941–6987. 3

- [53] M. Squassina, A. Szulkin, Multiple solutions to logarithmic Schrödinger equations with periodic potential, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 54(1) (2015), 585-597. Erratum: 56(3) (2017), article no. 56, pp. 4. 3
- [54] A. Szulkin, Minimax principles for lower semicontinuous functions and applications to nonlinear boundary value problems, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré C Anal. Non Linéaire 3(2) (1986), 77–109. 3
- [55] T. Tao, M. Visan, X. Zhao, The nonlinear Schrödinger equation with combined power-type nonlinearities, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 32(7-9) (2007), 1281–1343. 3
- [56] K. Tanaka, C. Zhang, Multi-bump solutions for logarithmic Schrödinger equations, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 56(2) (2017), article no. 33, pp. 35. 3
- [57] H. Tehrani, Existence results for an indefinite unbounded perturbation of a resonant Schrödinger equation, J. Differential Equations 236(1) (2007), 1–28. 3
- [58] Z.-Q. Wang, C. Zhang, Convergence from power-law to logarithm-law in nonlinear scalar field equations, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 231(1) (2019), 45–61. 3
- [59] C. Zhang, Z.-Q. Wang, Concentration of nodal solutions for logarithmic scalar field equations, J. Math. Pures Appl. 135(2) (2020), 1–25. 3
- [60] C. Zhang, X. Zhang, Normalized clustering peak solutions for Schrödinger equations with general nonlinearities, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 63(9) (2024), article no. 220, pp. 41. 4, 8